BILATERAL TRADE POLICIES AND ISSUES
BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES AND CHINA

THURSDAY, AUGUST 2, 2001

U.S.-CHINA SECURITY REVIEW COMMISSION,
Washington, DC.

The Commission met in Room 124, Dirksen Senate Office Build-
ing, Washington, D.C., at 8:07 a.m., C. Richard D’Amato (Chair-
man) and George Becker (Hearing Co-Chairman), presiding.

OPENING REMARKS OF CHAIRMAN C. RICHARD D’AMATO

Chairman D’AMATO. Why don’t we just get started. The steel in-
dustry rises early and this committee is complying with that.

Mr. GERARD. We just don’t want to retire early.

[Laughter.]

Chairman D’AMATO. Today is the U.S.-China Commission’s sec-
ond hearing on U.S.-China Trade and Investment Issues. This
Commission was created by Congress last year to examine the
growing economic relationship with China and the implications of
this relationship on U.S. national security issues. Perhaps no as-
pect of the U.S.-China economic relationship is as significant to
this examination as the implications of China’s impending acces-
sion to the World Trade Organization.

Many believe China’s WTO accession will reap significant eco-
nomic benefits for the United States in terms of greater access to
the Chinese market for U.S. goods and services and that it will
bring about positive political and economic reform within China.
Others believe the potential benefits to the U.S. economy of China’s
WTO accession are overstated. Some, in fact, believe it will in-
crease our trade deficit with China and that China will be unable
or unwilling to live up to its WT'O commitments. Today’s hearing,
gvebhope, will help to start shedding some light on this important

ebate.

The implications for the U.S. economy and U.S. national security
interests of the China WTO accession will likely vary sector by sec-
tor, economic sector. Today, we will hear from labor and industry
representatives from a number of the key sectors that will be im-
pacted. The Commission looks forward to the testimony of these
witnesses and to their perspectives on current and future trends
regarding our trade and investment relationship with China.

Today’s hearing will aid the Commission in carrying out its gen-
eral mandate to examine the economic factors in the U.S.-China re-
lationship that pose challenges to U.S. national security. Addition-
ally, today’s proceedings should help the Commission address the
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specific mandates in its charter to report to Congress on, first, ac-
tions China has taken in the context of the WTO that are adverse
or unfavorable to U.S. interests; second, differences between Chi-
na’s trade and investment relationship with the U.S. and its other
trading partners; third, the national security implications of the
large capital flows between the U.S. and China; and fourth, wheth-
er the U.S. should consider invoking Article XXI of the GATT,
which allows parties to deviate from their GATT obligations when
their national security interests are threatened as a result of any
adverse impact on the U.S. arising from its economic relationship
with China.

Later this fall, the Commission plans to hold a Third Hearing on
Trade and Investment Issues to explore some of these key issues,
including trade and financial services and protection of intellectual
property rights that are not covered in the first two hearings. The
Commission will also hold hearings on export controls, Chinese
companies fundraising in the U.S. capital market, Chinese budget,
and tomorrow, China’s strategic perceptions of the U.S. The cur-
rent schedule is available on the committee’s website.

Now, I would like to turn over to my Co-Chairman, the Honor-
able Commissioner George Becker, for an opening statement, and
he will be running the first panel of our witnesses today.

[The statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN C. RICHARD D’AMATO

Today is the Commission’s second hearing on U.S.-China trade and investment
issues.

The Commission was created by Congress to examine our growing economic rela-
tionship with China and the implications of this relationship on U.S. national secu-
rity interests. Perhaps no aspect of the U.S.-China economic relationship is as sig-
nificant to this examination as the implications of China’s impending accession to
the World Trade Organization (WTO). Many believe China’s WTO accession will
reap significant economic benefits for the United States in terms of greater access
to the Chinese market for U.S. goods and services, and that it will bring about posi-
tive political and economic reform within China. Others believe that the potential
benefits to the U.S. economy of China’s WTO accession are overstated (some in fact
believe it will increase our trade deficit with China), and that China will be unable
or unwilling to live up to its WT'O commitments. Today’s hearing should help shed
light on this important debate.

The implications for the U.S. economy and U.S. national security interests of Chi-
na’s WTO accession will likely vary by economic sector. Today we will hear from
labor and industry representatives from a number of the key sectors that will be
impacted. The Commission looks forward to the testimony of these witnesses and
to their perspectives on current and future trends regarding our trade and invest-
ment relationship with China.

Today’s hearing will aid the Commission in carrying out its general mandate to
examine the economic factors in the U.S.-China relationship that pose challenges to
U.S. national security. Additionally, today’s proceedings should help the Commission
address the specific mandates in its Charter to report to Congress on (1) actions
China has taken in the context of the WTO that are adverse or favorable to U.S.
interests, (2) differences between China’s trade and investment relationship with
the U.S. and its other trading partners, (3) the national security implications of the
large capital flows between the U.S. and China, and (4) whether the U.S. should
consider invoking Article XXI of the GATT, which allows parties to derogate from
their GATT obligations when their national security interests are implicated, as a
result of any adverse impact on the U.S. arising from its economic relationship with
China.

Later this Fall, the Commission plans to hold a third hearing on trade and invest-
ment issues to explore some of the key issues—such as trade in financial services
and protection of intellectual property rights—that were not covered in the first two
hearings. The Commission will also hold hearings on export controls, Chinese com-
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panies’ fundraising in the U.S. capital markets, the Chinese budget and, tomorrow,
China’s strategic perceptions of the U.S. The current schedule 1s available on the
Commission’s website.

I would like to turn now to my Co-Chair for this hearing, Commissioner Becker,
for an opening statement.

OPENING REMARKS OF COMMISSIONER GEORGE BECKER

Co-Chairman BECKER. It is my pleasure to be Co-Chairing with
Dick D’Amato, the Commission’s permanent Chairman, a second
public hearing of the United States-China Security Review Com-
mission. We will hear testimony today from witnesses representing
a broad array of sectors impacted by bilateral and trade policies
and the economic relationship between the United States and
China, as well as from representatives of the administration. These
witnesses will give us their perspectives on what China’s WTO ac-
cession means to the United States industry and its workers. The
subject matter of this hearing and your testimony is of particular
interest to the Commission and we want to thank you for your ap-
pearance.

We will begin with a panel focusing on the United States steel
industry and the impact of China on the world steel market. Our
panelists for that topic are Leo Gerard, International President of
the United Steelworkers of America, a union I was honored to lead
prior to Mr. Gerard’s tenure, and Tom Usher, Chairman and CEO
of the USX Corporation.

We then have a panel to discuss the important question of Chi-
na’s accession to the World Trade Organization and viewpoints on
China’s compliance with agreements in both the bilateral and mul-
tilateral context. Peter Davidson, General Counsel to the United
States Trade Representative; Charles Winwood, Acting Commis-
sioner at the United States Customs Service; and Donald Shruhan,
Deputy Assistant Commissioner for International Affairs, will
present the administration’s perspectives. Gordon Chang, a lawyer
with many years’ experience in China and author of the book The
Coming Collapse of China, published just yesterday, will share his
views from the private sector.

We will address the impact of China as an emerging influence on
the aircraft, aerospace, and automobile industries in the last panel
this morning. General John Douglass, President and CEO of the
Aerospace Industries Association; Robert Thayer, General Vice
President of the International Association of Machinists and Aero-
space Workers; and Steve Beckman, Assistant Director of the Gov-
ernment and International Affairs Department at the United Auto
Workers, will discuss the challenges and possibilities posed by Chi-
na’s growing role in these industries.

In the afternoon, we begin with a panel looking at the agricul-
tural section and the views of China from our farming commu-
nities. On that panel, we have Robbin Johnson, Vice President for
Corporate Affairs at Cargill; Henry Jo Von Tungeln, Vice Chair-
man of the National Association of Wheat Growers; Dwain Ford,
First Vice President of the American Soybean Association; and
Chuck Lambert, Chief Economist at the National Cattlemen’s Beef
Association.

We will conclude today’s hearings with a discussion of U.S.-
China trade in computer electronics and telecommunications sec-
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tors. Ed Fire, President of the International Union of Electrical
Workers, which has just recently merged with the Communication
Workers Union, and David McCurdy, President of the Electronics
Industry Alliance, will testify on the specific issues raised by trade
in these industries. Merritt Todd Cooke, Commercial Section Chief
at the American Institute in Taiwan, will testify on the state of
these industries in the context of the U.S.-China-Taiwan relation-

ship.

We obviously have a lot of ground to cover. The Commission
again thanks our panelists for coming today and sharing our views.

We have a timer that is set up here allotting seven minutes of
testimony for each person. It runs five minutes with a green light,
two minutes with a yellow light, and then you get the gong. That
is the red light. With the first two panelists that we are going to
kick off with on steel, though, since you are the only two for this
session here, we won’t pay as strict attention to that, if we can. But
be cognizant of each other’s desire to submit testimony, and I know
that you will share it, so we will keep the timer tight with you as
you go forward.

Mr. Usher, we will start with you.

[The statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER GEORGE BECKER

It is my pleasure to be co-chairing today’s important hearing on bilateral trade
policies and issues between the United States and China. We will hear testimony
from witnesses representing a broad array of sectors impacted by U.S.-China trade,
as well as from representatives of the Administration. These witnesses will give us
their perspectives on what China’s WTO accession means for U.S. industry and U.S.
workers. The topic of this hearing is particularly timely, so the Commission thanks
all our panelists for their appearance here today.

We will begin with a panel focusing on the United States steel industry and the
impact of China on the world steel market. Our panelists for that topic are Leo Ge-
rard, President of the United Steelworkers of America, an organization I was hon-
ored to lead prior to Mr. Gerard’s tenure, and Thomas Usher, Chairman and CEO
of USX Corporation.

We then have a panel to discuss the important question of China’s accession to
the World Trade Organization and viewpoints on China’s compliance with agree-
ments in both the bilateral and multilateral contexts. Peter Davidson, General
Counsel to the United States Trade Representative, Charles Winwood, Acting Com-
missioner at the United States Customs Service and Donald Shruhan, Deputy As-
sistant Commissioner for International Affairs will present the Administration’s per-
spectives. Gordon Chang, a lawyer with many years experience in China and author
of the book The Coming Collapse of China, just published yesterday, will share his
views from the private sector.

We will address the impact of China as an emerging influence on the aircraft,
aerospace and automobile industries in the last panel this morning. General John
Douglass, President and CEO of the Aerospace Industries Association, Robert
Thayer, General Vice President of the International Association of Machinists and
Aerospace Workers, and Steve Beckman, Assistant Director of the Government and
International Affairs Department at the United Auto Workers, will discuss the chal-
lenges and possibilities posed by China’s growing role in these industries.

In the afternoon, we begin with a panel looking at the agriculture sector and the
views of China from our farming community. On that panel we have Robbin John-
son, Vice President for Corporate Affairs at Cargill, Henry Jo Von Tunglein, Vice
Chairman at the National Association of Wheat Growers, Dwain Ford, First Vice
President of the American Soybean Association and Chuck Lambert, Chief Econo-
mist at the National Cattleman’s Beef Association.

We will conclude today’s hearing with a discussion of U.S.-China trade in the com-
puter electronics and telecommunications sectors. Ed Fire, President of the Inter-
national Union of Electrical Workers, and David McCurdy, President of the Elec-
tronics Industry Alliance, will testify on the specific issues raised by trade in these
industries. Merritt Todd Cooke, Commercial Section Chief at the American Institute
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in Taiwan, will testify on the state of these industries in the context of the U.S.-
China-Taiwan relationship.

We obviously have a lot of ground to cover. The Commission again thanks our
panelists for coming today and sharing their views.

PANEL I: CHINA AND THE U.S. STEEL INDUSTRY

STATEMENT OF THOMAS J. USHER, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECU-
TIVE OFFICER, USX CORPORATION AND UNITED STATES STEEL
LLC

Mr. UsHER. Well, George, I guess the gong is better than the
hook. I would hate to be dragged out physically.

Mr. Chairman, members of the Commission, I am Tom Usher,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of USX Corporation and
United States Steel. United States Steel is the largest integrated
steel maker in the United States and the largest producer of flat
rolled steel. I appreciate this opportunity to appear before you
today to address the growing challenge posed to our industry by
China.

In 1996, China became the world’s largest producer of crude
steel. The Chinese government has a stated objective of making
China completely self-sufficient in steel by 2010. World Steel Dy-
namics, which recently completed a major study on the Chinese in-
dustry, reports that a huge expansion is underway in the steel sec-
tor, with an addition of 20 million metric tons of hot rolling capac-
ity by the year 2006. They predict that the Chinese steel industry
by 2010 is sure to become the dominant steel making group in the
world.

The consequences of the global capacity glut for our own steel in-
dustry have been disastrous. We have experienced massive recur-
rent surges of low-priced illegal imports in this market since 1998,
which have depressed prices and destroyed profitability. Since
1998, producers representing over 20 percent of the U.S. steel in-
dustry’s crude steel capacity have entered bankruptcy proceedings.

Thus far, given its sheer size, the Chinese steel industry has
played a comparatively modest role in export markets. In both
1998 and 1999, for example, it exported a smaller volume of steel
than Taiwan. However, we have already learned that when China
directs its large and growing steel making capacity to the export
market, the results can be dramatic.

In 1993, China did not ship any cut-to-length plate to the U.S.
market. However, only three years later, China had become the
largest single foreign supplier of this product to the U.S., account-
ing for over 18 percent of all cut-to-length plate imports.

As Chinese capacity continues to expand, the prospects for a rep-
etition of the plate episode increase. Given the size of China’s in-
dustry, if domestic demand falters due to recession or other factors,
the result could be an export surge comparable in scale and disrup-
tive power to that which we saw from Russia in 1998. Significantly,
the Chinese government has demonstrated that it will employ spe-
cial tax rebates and other export incentives to stimulate exports.

Confronting China, our industry faces a competitive challenge
from enterprises organized under an economic system which is fun-
damentally unlike our own. The Chinese industry has access to
low-cost abundant capital from the government. The government
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owns the principal steel enterprises and is committed to creating
an environment in which profits, and therefore income tax receipts,
are good. Government administered import restrictions and produc-
tion controls have enabled Chinese mills to achieve domestic prices
which are among the highest in the world for both flat and long
products.

Since the end of World War II, the United States has sought to
promote an open liberal world trading order through the establish-
ment of multilateral rules and institutions, including GATT and
the WTO. Through this process, multilateral rules have been estab-
lished which prohibit or circumscribe precisely the kinds of trade
and industrial policy measures China is using to promote its steel
industry.

The critical question which we face today is the extent to which
these rules will apply to China in a manner in which compliance
can be monitored and, where necessary, enforced. If China fully ad-
heres to its WT'O commitments upon accession, most of the prin-
cipal restrictions which limit access to the Chinese market will be
eliminated. The U.S. and its trading partners have a shared inter-
est in ensuring that China complies with its commitments on mar-
ket access.

At present, the Chinese steel industry is one of the most heavily
subsidized steel industries in the world. The government has pro-
vided massive assistance in the form of debt forgiveness to China’s
steel industry, estimated at $10.8 billion in 1999-2000 and has ap-
proved loans at subsidized interest rates worth $4.6 billion to over
80 steel projects. Additional large-scale subsidies are provided to
Chinese steel makers by regional and local governments, and the
Chinese government gives export tax rebates on a preferential
basis to domestic steel producers.

Under current Department of Commerce rules, given China’s
non-market economy status, U.S. countervailing duty law does not
apply to Chinese exports. Given China’s historical and current reli-
ance on export subsidies, it is important that the current WTO ban
on export subsidies be made fully applicable to China after acces-
sion. In addition, U.S. countervailing duty laws should be fully ap-
plicable to Chinese export subsidies whether or not a remedy is
available under WTO dispute resolution procedures.

The Commission has expressed interest in the extent to which
China will be able to live up to the bilateral trade obligations it is
assuming with regard to the U.S. as it joins the WTO. To date, the
record is mixed. Based on this experience, it is important that the
U.S. Government closely monitor China’s adherence to its WTO
commitments, particularly in sectors like steel, which are the sub-
jects of intensive government promotional efforts.

If China breaches its WTO commitments, the United States has
recourse through WTO dispute resolution procedures and should
utilize procedures in appropriate cases. At the same time, we must
bear in mind that, to date, these procedures have not proven fully
effective in enforcing U.S. rights under the GATT and the WTO
has not yet demonstrated that it can handle cases in which com-
plex factual issues are in dispute, as is likely with respect to China.

Accordingly, the U.S. must remain ready to act unilaterally
where necessary in defense of its rights, consistent with its obliga-
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tions under the WTO. As a practical matter, this will entail the ap-
plication of antidumping and countervailing duty measures, as well
as remedies available under other statutes.

An important element in China’s emergence as a major power is
the rapid development of a strategic industry like steel. China
clearly regards the existence of a strong indigenous steel industry
as essential to its broader national aspirations, including its mili-
tary capacity. By the same reasoning, we should implement trade
and other policy measures necessary to prevent the further erosion
of our own steel industry.

President Bush recent launched an initiative to respond to the
crisis confronting the U.S. steel industry. No arm of the U.S. Gov-
ernment should take action which undermines the objective of the
President’s program. I am referring specifically to the proposals by
the U.S. Export-Import Bank to provide loans to finance expansion
of steel making capacity abroad at the same time that the Presi-
dent is trying to reduce capacity. It is irrational for the Ex-Im
Bank to finance the construction of additional steel making capac-
ity abroad for products which are already in global oversupply.

Last year, the Ex-Im Bank approved a loan to the Benxi Iron and
Steel Company in China which would help finance the expansion
of Benxi’s capacity for hot rolled flat products by 1.5 million tons.
This episode underscores the need for some additional guiding prin-
ciples for Ex-Im financing.

First, the Ex-Im Bank should not finance investments that would
increase capacity for a commodity product which is already in mas-
sive global oversupply, and second, no loan should be extended to
countries where companies have been found to be dumping in the
U.S. market or while an antidumping investigation is pending. And
finally, the U.S. Government should engage other governments in
a dialogue to ensure that no country extends export financing for
capacity expansion in steel, which would aggravate the existing
surplus.

I want to thank you again for inviting me to participate today
and I look forward to the question and answer session.

[The statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THOMAS J. USHER

Mr. Chairman and members of the Commission, I am Thomas J. Usher, Chair-
man and Chief Executive Officer of USX Corporation and United States Steel LLC.
United States Steel is the largest integrated steelmaker in the United States and
the largest producer of flat-rolled steel in the U.S. I appreciate this opportunity to
all)lpear before you today to address the growing challenge posed to our industry by

ina.

In 1996 China became the world’s largest producer of crude steel. While much of
its industry consists of inefficient mills producing steel of relatively low quality, the
Chinese government is devoting massive resources to upgrading the industry. The
Chinese government has a stated objective of making China completely self-suffi-
cient in steel by 2010. There is little doubt that China is quite capable of achieving
this goal. World Steel Dynamics, which recently completed a major study on the
Chinese industry, reports that “a huge expansion” is under way in the steel sector,
with im addition of 20 million metric tons of hot-rolling capacity seen by the year
2006.

—Some Chinese mills, like Baoshan in Shanghai, now produce high quality cold-

rolled and corrosion-resistant flat products.

1WSD, Chinese steel: Unique, Unbridled, Unstoppable, Case Report vvv (June 2001), p. vvv—
1-7.
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—The U.S. Department of Commerce reported last year that the Chinese govern-
ment will spend $6 billion during the next several years to “upgrade and trans-
form” the steel industry.

—Commerce predicted that the central government will direct local governments
to give the steel industry priority with respect to land use, raw materials, trans-
port, raw material, equipment, and water and power supplies.2

World Steel Dynamics predicts that “the Chinese steel industry by 2010 is sure
to become the dominant steelmaking group in the world.”

The expansion of the Chinese steel industry must be viewed against the crisis
which confronts the global steel industry today. China is undertaking massive ca-
pacity expansion at a time when the world steel industry already suffers from an
enormous overhang of surplus capacity. The capacity surplus has already led to de-
pressed prices, chronic dumping and trade friction around the world. While the
numbers may vary by source depending on the definition of “overcapacity,” the di-
mensions of the problem are monumental:

—The OECD estimates that 275 million tons of surplus crude steelmaking capac-
ity exists worldwide, or about two times the annual consumption of the United
States and more than the entire world consumed annually during the decade
of the 1950s.

—In the year 2000, over 75 million tons of the world’s effective capacity for hot-
rolled flat products was not utilized at all, more than double the amount needed
to supply the U.S. market for a year.3

The consequences of the global capacity glut for our own steel industry have been
disastrous. We have experienced massive, recurrent surges of low-priced imports in
this market since 1998 which have depressed prices and destroyed profitability.
Since 1998 producers representing over 20 percent of the U.S. steel industry’s crude
steel capacity have entered bankruptcy proceedings.

Chinese Steel—The Experience to Date

What role has China played in this process? To date, the biggest impact of China’s
steel policies on our industry has been indirect, reflecting the progressive closure of
the Chinese market through a series of government measures which have been im-
plemented since 1994.

—In 1993, according to statistics published by the International Iron and Steel
Institute, China imported over 36.7 million metric tons of semi-finished and fin-
ished steel products, more than twice the volume imported by the U.S. in that
year (17.9 million).

—By 1998, the situation had more than reversed itself—the United States ab-
sorbed 37.9 million tons, over 22 times the 13.1 million tons imported by China
in that year.4 Chinese import restrictions largely foreclosed a traditional major
export outlet for countries like Russia and Japan. Steel from these and other
sources that would have gone to China ten years ago has come to the United
States instead. In addition, Chinese import restrictions have meant the loss of
an export market for us—U.S. exports of finished steel to China fell from an
average of 109.8 thousand net tons in 1992-95 to 18.5 thousand net tons in
1997-99.5

Thus far, given its sheer size, the Chinese steel industry has played a compara-
tively modest role in export markets. In both 1998 and 1999, for example, it ex-
ported a smaller total volume of steel than Taiwan.® However, we have already
learned that when China directs its large and growing steelmaking capacity to the
export market, the results can be dramatic:

—In 1993 China did not ship any cut-to-length plate (CTL) to the U.S. market.

—Only three years later, China had become the largest single foreign supplier of
this product to the U.S., accounting for over 18 percent of all CTL imports.
Dumping margins were found by the Commerce Department ranging from 17.33
percent to 128.59 percent.

As Chinese capacity continues to expand, the prospects for a repetition of the
plate episode increase. Given the size of China’s industry, if domestic demand fal-
ters due to recession or other factors, the result could be an export surge comparable
in scale and disruptive power to that which we saw from Russia in 1998. Signifi-

2U.S. Department of Commerce, Report to the president: Global Steel Trade (July 2000), p.
146.

3 Metal Bulletin Research, April 2001.

4TISI, Steel Statistical Yearbook 2000.

5 American Iron and Steel Institute.

6 IISI Steel Statistical Yearbook 2000, Table 30.
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cantly, the Chinese government has demonstrated that it will employ special tax re-
bates and other export incentives in order to stimulate exports.

Trade Policy Implications of China’s Steel Policies

While Chinese industrial policies in steel have already had substantial effects on
our industry and market, they have more serious implications for the future. Con-
fronting China, our industry faces a competitive challenge from enterprises orga-
nized under an economic system which is fundamentally unlike our own. The recent
study by World Steel Dynamics cites some of these systemic differences in support
of its predication that the Chinese steel industry is “sure” to become the dominant
producer in the world within ten years. It notes, for example—

—Subsidies.—The Chinese industry has access to “low-cost, abundant capital”
from the government. WSD asks “why be fearful [of high levels of debt] when
the central government may never permit any of the companies to go out of
business and is willing to exchange debt for equity when necessary?” 7

—State ownership.—The government owns the principal steel enterprises and is
“committed to creating an environment in which profits, and, therefore, income
tax receipts, are good.” “All of the [main Chinese steel] companies belong to the
government. There are no exceptions. If the government approves, the compa-
nies get the help that they need.” Top executives of Chinese steel companies are
members of the Communist Party.®

—Market controls.—Government-administered import restrictions and production
controls have enabled Chinese mills to achieve domestic prices which are among
the highest in the world for both flat and long products—for example, $314 per
metric ton for hot-rolled bands in the first quarter of 20019 (versus about $270
per ton in the U.S. during the same period).

Comparable promotional measures in many other countries have played a major
role in the erosion of the U.S. steel industry. Their presence on a huge scale in what
is now the world’s largest steel industry must constitute a major cause for concern.

Since the end of World War II, the United States has sought to promote an open,
liberal world trading order through the establishment of multilateral rules and in-
stitutions, such as, most notably, the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
(GATT) and, more recently, the World Trade Organization (WTO). Through this
process, multilateral rules have been established which prohibit or circumscribe pre-
cisely the kinds of trade and industrial policy measures China is using to promote
its steel industry. The critical question which we face today is the extent to which
these rules will apply to China in a manner in which compliance can be monitored
and, where necessary, enforced.

The U.S. government has negotiated a bilateral agreement with China with re-
spect to WTO accession which goes a long way toward satisfying some of our prin-
cipal concerns about the potential effect of Chinese policies on our industry. The ex-
tent to which China will comply with its obligations is an open question. The effec-
tiveness of subsequent monitoring and enforcement will depend on the degree of ef-
fort and level of resources committed to the task by this and subsequent administra-
tions. With all of these variables, it is premature to assess the impact of China’s
WTO entry on the U.S. steel industry. Nevertheless, it is useful to review the most
important issues.

Antidumping—Non-Market Economy Rules

U.S. antidumping law provides that in cases involving exports to the U.S. from
“non-market economies” (NMEs) the Department of Commerce is to determine “nor-
mal market value” of the product under investigation by calculating the costs of pro-
duction for NME producers. Because prices in NMEs are distorted by pervasive gov-
ernment controls, Commerce calculates costs by reference to a surrogate market
economy which is a significant producer of comparable products and which is at a
level of development comparable to that of the NME under investigation.

The U.S.-China Agreement provides that Commerce may continue using NME
methodology in antidumping investigations involving China for 15 years following
China’s WTO accession. China has indicated it will seek to eliminate use of the
NME provisions of U.S. antidumping law given its progress towards becoming a
market economy. However, State ownership and pervasive control of strategic indus-
tries like steel are expected to continue for the foreseeable future, and are cited by
industry analysts as a major source of competitive advantage.

7WSD, Chinese Steel (op. Cit.) p. vvv—2-3.
8WSD, Chinese Steel (op. Cit.) p. vvv—2-3, vvv—4-1, vvv—2-1.
9WSD, Chinese steel, op. Cit., p. vvv—3—4.
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—The Chinese government makes and guides prices in the crude oil and natural
gas sectors, power supply, coal, transportation, and in the steel industry itself.10
—In the state steel sector, wage rates are not determined by free bargaining or
other market-based methods—overemployment is endemic and a de facto form
of social welfare, with the costs ultimately absorbed by the state. One Chinese
mill, Shougang, employs more workers than the entire U.S. steel industry.11
Accordingly, in the final Protocol of Accession and in implementing U.S. legisla-
tion, the right of the U.S. to continue to apply the NME provisions of its Anti-
dumping Law to China for the full 15 years must be preserved.

Safeguards

The U.S.-China Agreement provides that the U.S. can apply product-specific safe-
guard measures solely against China in situations in which imports occur in such
an increased quantity and are imported under such conditions that they constitute
a “significant cause of material injury, or threat of material injury” to a competing
U.S. industry. This provision, which will remain in effect for 12 years following Chi-
na’s accession to the WTO, contains lower causation and injury standards than ordi-
narily would apply between WTO members in safeguard cases. These special safe-
guard rules are appropriate given China’s status as an economy in transition, the
sheer size of some of its manufacturing sectors, including steel, and the potential
for domestic market disruption in the wake of trade liberalization. Congress must
enact legislation fully implementing this provision, and it will be important for the
Executive to exercise this right vigorously in appropriate cases.

Market Access

In October 1992, China signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with
United States committing (1) to eliminate all quotas and import licensing on steel
imports, and (2) not to pursue import substitution policies, e.g. measures designed
to displace imports with domestic production. Notwithstanding these commitments,
China has pursued an explicit policy of import substitution in steel using a system
of de facto import licensing to quantitatively restrict steel imports:

—The State Administration of the Metallurgical (SAMI) has repeatedly stated its
objective of “replacing [steel] imports with domestic products.” In 1998 the gov-
ernment implemented the Steel Import Substitution Program (SISP), which pro-
vided VAT rebates to steel consumers who used domestic steel and would other-
wise use imported steel.12

—A Chinese official publication, Liacowang, stated in 2000 that despite the com-
mitments in the 1992 MOU, China still maintained quotas on steel imports and
subjected imports to registration requirements.13 The U.S. Department of Com-
merce concluded in 2000 that “ample anecdotal evidence and various reports in-
dicate the existence of a steel import quota.” 14

In addition to quotas, China maintains an array of other import restrictions, in-
cluding restrictions on import trading rights, the prohibition of distribution of steel
by foreign firms within China, the requirement that foreign firms importing steel
post security deposits, and tariffs which range from 10 to 40 percent.

If China fully adheres to its WTO commitments upon accession, most of the prin-
cipal restrictions which limit access to the Chinese market will be eliminated—most
importantly, the quota/licensing system. The result will be an increase in imports
from nearby Asian countries as well as producers in the former Soviet Union. This
will relieve pressure on the U.S. market and will subject inefficient Chinese pro-
ducers to intensified competition. The U.S. and its trading partners have a shared
interest in ensuring that China complies with its commitments on market access.

Subsidies

At present the Chinese steel industry is one of the most heavily-subsidized steel
industries in the world.

—The government has provided massive assistance, in the form of debt forgive-

ness to China’s steel industry, estimated at $10.8 billion in 1999-2000. Some

10“China Controls Public Utilities Prices,” Beijing Xinhua Domestic Service (April 26, 1998);
“Energy Situation, Utilization Strategy,” Neijing Zhongguo Nengyuan (February 1, 1999); “State
Sets Minimum Price for Steel Products,” South China Morning Post (September 1, 1998).

117U.S. Department of Commerce, Reports to the President: Global Steel Trade (July 2000).

12“The State Bureau of Metallurgical Industry Seeks to Continue to do a Good Job of Control-
ling Total Production Output,” Xinhua (Chinese Language Version) (July 22, 1999); U.S. Depart-
ment of Commerce, Global Steel Trade op. Cit. P. 154; “PRC Sets Metallurgical Restructuring
Objectives for 2000,” Xinhua (English Language Version) (February 25, 2000).

13“WTO entry Pros, Cars as PRC Industries,” Liaowang (February 28, 2000).

14U.S. Department of Commerce, Global Steel Trade (July 2000) p. 153.
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of China’s leading producers, including Baoshan and Capital Iron and Steel,
were beneficiaries of this aid.1®

—In April 2001 China’s State Economic and Trade Commission (SETC) approved
loans at subsidized interest rates worth US $4.6 billion to over 80 steel projects
designed to expand capacity for hot-rolled flat products and plate by 13.7 mil-
lion tons, cold rolled flat products by 6.8 million tons, and galvanized sheet by
2.5 million tons.16

—Additional large scale subsidies are provided to Chinese steelmakers by regional
and local governments.

—The Chinese government gives “export tax rebates” on a preferential basis to
domestic steel producers, which have been credited with substantially improv-
ing China’s export position.1?

At present, under current Department of Commerce rules, given China’s non-mar-
ket economy status, U.S. countervailing duty law (CVD) does not apply to Chinese
exports. If and when all or parts of the Chinese economy graduate to market econ-
omy status, U.S. CVD rules should be applicable immediately to imports from
China.

—The U.S. should retain flexibility to use alternative benchmarks to measure

countervailable benefits arising out of subsidies, so that, for example, even if
a particular sector is graduated to “market” status, other sectors providing sub-
sidized inputs reflecting state controls would not be so considered.

—The U.S. should seek to ensure—if necessary through legislation—that if mas-
sive Chinese subsidies to the steel industry continue, those subsidies will be
subject to U.S. CVD rules even if individual steel enterprises are privatized, un-
less and until the subsidies are fully repaid.

Given China’s historical and current reliance on export subsidies, it is important
that the current WTO ban on export subsidies be made fully applicable to China
after accession. In addition, U.S. CVD law should be fully applicable to Chinese ex-
port subsidies, whether or not a remedy is available under WTO Dispute Resolution
procedures.

Enforcing U.S. Rights

The Commission has expressed interest in the extent to which China will be able
to live up to the bilateral trade obligations which it is assuming with regard to the
U.S. as it joins the WTO. To date, the record is mixed. China has met many of its
commitments under the 1992 MOU with the U.S., and we have a right to expect
that it will make a good faith effort to comply with its new WTO obligations. How-
ever, with respect to steel, it should be recalled that in the 1992 MOU China com-
mitted not to implement an import substitution policy and to phase out its quan-
titative import restrictions on steel by the end of 1993. These commitments were
in conflict with China’s industrial development objectives, and industrial policy pre-
vailed. Based on this experience, it is important that the U.S. government closely
monitor China’s adherence to its WTO commitments, particularly in sectors like
steel which are the subjects of intensive government promotional efforts.

If China breaches its WT'O commitments, the United States has recourse to WTO
Dispute Resolution procedures, and should utilize procedures in appropriate cases.
At the same time, we must bear in mind that to date these procedures have not
proven fully effective in enforcing U.S. rights under the GATT, and the WTO has
not yet demonstrated that it can handle cases in which complex factual issues are
in dispute, as is likely with respect to China. For example, China has denied that
it maintains quantitative restraints on steel imports, despite extensive evidence to
the contrary, and a future U.S.-China dispute over this or similar issues would in-
volve issues of fact which WTO dispute resolution procedures and the WTO Secre-
tariat are ill-equipped to handle. Accordingly, the U.S. must remain ready to act
unilaterally, where necessary, in defense of its rights, consistent with its obligations
under the WTO. As a practical matter this will entail the application of anti-
dumping and countervailing duty measures, as well as remedies available under
other statutes.

15“PRC Government to Continue to Implement Debt-to-Equity Swaps for Steel Firms,” China
Daily (Business Weekly Supplement, Hong Kong Edition) (March 26, 2000); “SOE’s Sign Huge
Debt-Equity Swap Agreements,” Xinhua (November 10, 1999); “AMC’s Sign 3.6 Million Yuan
Agreement With Steel Giant,” Xinhua (January 5, 2000).

16World Steel Dynamics, Chinese Steel Unique, Unbridled, Unstoppable, Core Report VVV
(June 2001).

17“Government to Raise Tax Rebate Rates for Export Goods,” Xinhua (July 19, 1999); WJO
Deal Poses Competitive Threats to Chinese Mills, Metal Bulletin (November 16, 1999).
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The Nexus With U.S. Security Interests

Steel has been a “strategic” industry for centuries, meaning an industry essential
to national defense and the ability to wage war. The advent of nuclear weapons, the
development of “smart” weapons systems, and the increasing use of specialized non-
ferrous and exotic metals in aircraft and submarines have perhaps made steel some-
what less central to defense capability than it was earlier in this century, but the
fact remains that many of the platforms from which modern weapons systems oper-
ate are still predominantly made of steel. The Navy’s ships and the armored vehi-
cles, artillery pieces, trucks, and munitions used by the Army and Marine Corps are
made of steel, as are countless other major and minor items of equipment used by
all of the armed services.

The existence of a strong domestic steel industry has proven vitally important in
all of the wars of this past century, and the same will be true in the unfortunate
event that we became involved in another major war. While such a conflict today
seems unthinkable, it should be recalled that our entry into a number of wars which
are within living memory came as a surprise to most Americans, including World
War II, the Korean conflict, and the Gulf War. Moreover, while we have allies who
would undoubtedly be willing to supply us with steel during wartime, the need to
transport a vital raw material across thousands of miles of ocean during a war is
a major strategic disadvantage. The British discovered this in World War I, when
they had to import large tonnages of steel vital to their war effort along sea lanes
that were under attack by enemy submarines.

Whether or not we regard China as a “strategic competitor” with the United
States, an important element in China’s emergence as a major power is the rapid
development of strategic industry like steel. China clearly regards the existence of
a strong indigenous steel industry as essential to its broader national aspirations,
including its military capacity. By the same reasoning we should implement trade
and other policy measures necessary to prevent the further erosion of our own steel
industry, which has played a major role in defending the nation during the past cen-
tury and may be called upon to do so again.

Maintaining a Coherent U.S. Policy—The Case of Ex-Im Bank

President Bush recently launched an initiative to respond to the crisis confronting
the U.S. steel industry. The President has asked the U.S. International Trade Com-
mission to undertake an investigation pursuant to section 201 of the Trade Act of
1974 which can provide the basis for comprehensive import relief for the U.S. indus-
try. The President is also preparing to engage our trading partners in negotiations
to reduce surplus steelmaking capacity worldwide. These initial steps are very posi-
tive. While discussions are still under way about what additional policy measures
may be needed to enable the U.S. industry to recover fully, one thing should be clear
already—no arm of the U.S. government should take action which undermines the
objective of the President’s program. I am referring specifically to proposals by the
U.S. Ex-Im Bank to provide loans to finance expansion of steelmaking capacity
abroad at the same time that the President is trying to reduce capacity.

USX has always supported the efforts of Ex-Im Bank to promote U.S. exports, and
our subsidiary, USX Engineers and Consultants, recently participated in an Ex-Im
Bank program to assist a mill located in Romania to become more environmentally
efficient. However, it is irrational for Ex-Im Bank to finance the construction of ad-
ditional steelmaking capacity abroad for products which are already in global over-
supply. Last year Ex-Im Bank approved a loan to the Benxi Iron and Steel Company
in China which would help finance the expansion of Benxi’s capacity for hot-rolled
flat products by 1.5 million tons.

—This loan was approved at a time when worldwide there was already over 75
million tons of effective hot-rolled capacity that was not being utilized at all—
or morfgthan double the amount needed to supply the entire U.S. market for
a year.

—In China in 2000 there was already nearly 10 million tons of unutilized hot-
rolled capacity, and the capacity surplus is forecast to swell to 14 million tons
by 2004.19

—Benxi’s own hot-rolled capacity utilization rate was a disastrous 44% in 2004,
and even without the planned expansion this utilization rate is not forecast to
increase significantly in the foreseeable future.20

18 Metal Bulletin Research, April 2001.

19 Metal Bulletin Research, April 2001.

20 Metal Bulletin Research, April 2001. Benxi hot-rolled utilization rate forecast for 2004 is
48%. Ibid.
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—China’s capacity glut in hot-rolled flat products is so severe that the Chinese
government has established a controversial output-restraint cartel in this sec-
tor.

—The U.S. government is currently conducting an antidumping investigation with
respect to hot-rolled flat products from China. The Department of Commerce
has made a preliminary finding of dumping with respect to China at margins
as high as 67.44 percent and the U.S. International Trade Commission has
made a preliminary finding that dumped Chinese hot-rolled flat steel products
have materially injured U.S. steel producers.

This episode underscores the need for some additional guiding principles for Ex-
Im Bank financing. First, Ex-Im Bank should not finance investments that would
increase capacity for a commodity product which is already in massive global over-
supply. Investments in such sectors should be limited to environmental safety, and
capacity reduction. Second, no loans should be extended to countries where compa-
nies have been found to be dumping in the U.S. market, or while an antidumping
investigation is pending. Finally, as part of its effort to reduce global excess capacity
in steel, the U.S. government should engage other governments in a dialogue to en-
sure that no country extends export financing for capacity expansion in steel which
would aggravate the existing surplus.

Conclusion

The expansion of the Chinese steel industry is occurring in the face of an already
existing global steelmaking glut. The United States must closely monitor China’s
compliance with the bilateral agreement between China and the United States and
with China’s WTO commitments particularly in regard to the steel industry. The
steel industry continues to be a strategic industry in terms of national security.
China clearly views the development of a strong steel industry as integral to its
emergence as a major industrial and military power. We cannot allow the desire to
promote a bilateral trade relationship with China to be placed above our national
security interests and the maintenance of a domestic manufacturing base. Finally,
the Ex-Im Bank must take steps to assure that its actions are consistent with and
in support of other programs of the United States to reduce global steel over-
capacity.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Thank you, Mr. Usher.

Mr. Gerard?

STATEMENT OF LEO W. GERARD, INTERNATIONAL PRESIDENT,
UNITED STEELWORKERS OF AMERICA

Mr. GERARD. My name is Leo Gerard. I am the International
President of the Steelworkers Union. I am amply filling the suit of
my predecessor, but yet trying to fill his shoes.

[Laughter.]

I will attempt to follow the same kind of procedure with those
lights that he used to brag about to me of how he followed them.
He will know what I mean.

[Laughter.]

Let me just say that it is a bit difficult to add new testimony
after listening to Tom and his testimony, in particular his closing
remarks about the Ex-Im Bank and global overcapacity, because
certainly on this and a lot of other important issues to the steel in-
dustry, the position that he has iterated and that I would reiterate
are substantially identical.

I want to make just a few reinforcing points about global over-
capacity and the funding of new capacity in China by the Export-
Import Bank or by other means, whether it is through the IMF or
other funding agencies that are a pass-through of American tax-
payer dollars. It is irrational to have in excess of 20 steel compa-
nies in America either in bankruptcy, struggling to get out of bank-
ruptcy with a half-a-dozen others on their way to bankruptcy, to
have American taxpayer dollars through various funding agencies,
whether it is the Export-Import Bank or others, funding that global
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overcapacity and to fund it in a non-market economy and in an
economy that, I think, is easily recognized as one of the world’s
leading human right violators.

I will attempt through my time to say a few words about some
of the issues around human rights and the environment that I
think need to be considered.

Again, reiterating Tom’s point that China recently became the
largest manufacturer of steel in the world, not just carbon steel but
stainless steel, and its plans to increase capacity in the next five
to six years, our understanding is primarily not through generating
of its own internal capital or its own internal cash, but, in fact, pri-
marily through various levels of government subsidy and various
international grants and loans.

I have strong reservations about the ability of America to enforce
any trade agreement with China. If we probably apologize enough
times for having a steel industry, they might let us get some steel
into their country, or if we apologize enough times, they might let
us do something else when they violate trade laws.

I want to talk a little bit about workers’ rights in China that are
virtually nonexistent. I don’t know, Mr. Chairman or Commis-
sioners, if you have had a leading Chinese dissident appear before
your Commission, but I suggest you should, if you haven’t, Harry
Wu.

Chairman D’AMATO. Mr. Wu did testify before this Commission
on May 9th on issues related to workers and workers’ rights.

Mr. GERARD. Harry Wu is a steelworker. Harry Wu was a steel-
worker while he was in prison, making steel. The set of values that
I grew up with and the set of values our union has, on that issue
alone, that should be enough for this country not to have a trading
relationship, based on that kind of economic structure.

In China, there are no trade unions. In fact, the Chinese will say
to us that they have 130 million people that are in the official All-
China Federation of Trade Unions. The All-China Federation of
Trade Unions is nothing but an extension of the Chinese Com-
munist Party, and you get appointed to the union. Sometimes, I
don’t know that that’s all bad, being appointed to certain positions
in the union, but I don’t think you ought to be appointed to the
union.

The right to strike, which is a fundamental right, and I think in
any democracy it’s the fundamental right of workers worldwide, it
is a right that has been recognized internationally, was removed in
China in 1982. There is no vehicle for workers to improve their
standard of living. There is no vehicle for workers to dissent. There
is no vehicle for workers to have an open opportunity to share in
the wealth that they may create. So I don’t know how we can ex-
pect ourselves to compete, and I don’t know that we should expect
ourselves to compete with that kind of a system.

I think Tom did an excellent job of pointing out that, particularly
the steel industry, but we could certainly talk about a lot of other
industries, which you’ll do today, are, in fact, not privately held,
and, in fact, are run by various arms of the Chinese government,
whether it’s the military, whether it’s the prison system. Even the
private, apparently privatized companies are extensions of govern-
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ment corporations, so that the steel mills of that country are oper-
ating in a much less open way than we are in this country.

I think we need to talk about the environment and environ-
mental standards. In China, there are 244 small steel plants, I
would venture to say, that with virtually negligible, if any, environ-
mental controls or environmental regulation. Twenty-five percent
of China’s coke, which is self-generated, is produced with 6,000
children, whose wages are $20 a month. And anyone that under-
stands the integrated steel making industry knows that coke is an
important input into making steel. So not only is the industry envi-
ronmentally unsound and government subsidized, its inputs, the
majority of China’s coke is produced in beehive ovens that were vir-
tually outlawed in this country almost 50 years ago and should
have been. There are no clean air and clean water standards, and
this industry in America has stepped up to the plate and is one of
the more environmentally sound industries, one of the more envi-
ronmentally sound steel industries in the world.

Productivity, productivity in China is an average of 21.8 man
hours per ton. In America—it depends whose numbers you accept—
we are somewhere in the 3.8 to 4.1 man hours per ton. Yet, when
you have your inputs produced by child labor, slave labor, when
you produce the steel in prison camps, when you have government
subsidized industries and that steel makes its way into this mar-
ket, it undermines this market and undermines this industry on
standards and regulations that this country will not stand for.

Everything that is going on in China in its industries are diamet-
rically opposed to the values that this country holds so dear. I find
it, to be personally honest with you, I find it abhorrent that we
would be so naive as to think that by pretending that we will grow
our trade deficit with China, that somehow we will lead them to
democracy.

What we are doing is entrenching that their system works. What
we are entrenching with them is they can continue to operate the
way they do and we will prostitute ourselves for some theoretical
access to their market, when in the reality, in the last three, four,
five years, the deficit, the trade deficit with China on steel and all
manufacturing products is growing. We don’t get any steel into
their market. Yet, the manufacturing deficit with China is greater
than the deficit with Mexico, and everything in China is counter
to the values of this country.

So I maybe have digressed a bit just from steel, but I think you
can’t have steel in isolation of the realities of that country and the
realities of the way they run that country.

Let me just say in closing, again reiterating some of Mr. Usher’s
comments, since 19—I mean, I guess we could go back to 1980, but
let me just go back to ’97. Since 1997, the American steel industry
has been in a continuous state of attempting to recover from var-
ious national economic downturns. We got whacked in ’97 with the
Asian downturn, which was followed by the Latin American down-
turn, which was followed by virtually the Russian-Eastern Bloc col-
lapse, to an international economic downturn where we have 350
million tons of excess capacity in steel with only two so-called open
markets in the world, the United States and Canada. I happen to
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have lived in both countries and I thought maybe I could really
screw the other side and move to Russia or something.

[Laughter.]

But you look at what would happen with China being subsidized
to grow its steel industry, having the kind of environmental and
labor standards that I articulated, having U.S. taxpayers fund
through various vehicles the expansion of that industry, and when
it is the largest steel industry in the world, what will it do in its
next economic downturn and where will that steel go? Thank you
very much.

[The statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF LEO W. GERARD

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. My name is Leo Gerard. I am the Inter-
national President of the United Steelworkers of America and I appreciate the op-
portunity to testify on behalf of our members regarding the economic and security
implications of the bilateral economic relationship between the United States and
China.

The United Steelworkers represents approximately 690,000 members in the
United States and Canada, including most of the workers employed in the steel in-
dustry in the United States. The steel industry has historically played a key role
in maintaining U.S. national defense and security.

During the last three years, the steel industry has suffered from increased levels
of imports that have reduced domestic shipments, devastated employment, and
caused prices to fall to their lowest levels in over 20 years.

Although the Bush Administration has initiated an investigation under Section
201 of the nation’s trade laws into the damage that imports have done to the steel
industry, as of today, 20 steel companies have filed for bankruptcy protection and
several others remain on the brink of doing so.

The purpose of my testimony this morning is to discuss the growth of steel im-
ports from China, the abuses of workers rights that are taking place in China and
the threat that additional steel imports could pose to American steel workers and
industry.

The Steel Industry in China

China produces more steel today than any other nation in the world. China pro-
duced 126 million metric tonnes of crude steel in 2000, compared to 100 million met-
ric tonnes by the United States.

By almost all accounts, the growth and transformation of China’s steel industry
has been nothing short of phenomenal, as is shown in the attached graph. China’s
steel production has increased three-fold since 1980 when it produced just 37 million
metric tonnes.

China lacks the competitive advantages of other major steel producers. Its indus-
try is fragmented. It produces an overly narrow range of products and much is of
poor product quality. Its labor productivity is low. And its iron ore reserves are low-
grade and costly to concentrate.

So how has China, despite these disadvantages, achieved the remarkable growth
in its steel industry? China’s steel industry enjoys three major advantages: (1) it has
low labor costs as the result of its violations of workers’ rights; (2) it has access to
low cost capital through state-ownership; and (3) much of the industry operates
under lax environmental standards.

Workers Rights in China

The steel industry in China employs approximately 2.3 million workers, who earn
an average of approximately U.S.$1.25 per hour worked.

Unfortunately, steelworkers in China are unable to exercise an independent voice
in their workplace, unable to collectively bargain and may be imprisoned for forming
labor unions or participating in social protests.

While China reports that there were 130 million members of trade unions in
China in 1999, none belonged to independent unions. China’s 1992 Trade Union
Law prevents the establishment of unions that are independent of the public au-
thorities and ruling party. Only one union is allowed at any level: the All-China
Federation of Trade Unions (ACFTU). Officials of the ACFTU are appointed by the
Chinese Communist Party and remain obligated to the central party.
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The right to strike was removed from China’s constitution in 1982. Despite this,
the number of labor disputes has risen each year since 1992, according to a report
by the Independent Confederation of Free Trade Unions (ICFTU) to the Inter-
national Labor Organization. Strikers and organizers can be detained or sent to
forced labor camps for up to three years without a trial.

There were 240,000 people in forced labor camps in 1999, according to Chinese
government statistics. The ICFTU estimates that as many as 60,000 Chinese were
being held for disturbances of public order in 1999. This was in addition to the 1,900
individuals being held at the end of 1999 that had actually been convicted of
counterrevolutionary crimes.

The ICFTU has documented widespread examples where workers in China have
been confined to employer housing, locked-in from the outside, their personal identi-
fication confiscated upon arrival at the enterprise. Commercial manufacturing facili-
ties are frequently surrounded by barbed wire and protected by armed guards on
watchtowers.

State Ownership and Subsidies

China’s largest steel companies are state-owned. For these and other firms, the
central government manages and controls all decisions on expansion and replace-
ment of larger units of equipment.

During the last two years, China’s government has funded the construction of
three new thin-slab casting and hot rolling mills with 4 million metric tonnes of an-
nual capacity. The plants use world-class technology—the same as used by Nucor
here in the United States—and will produce hot rolled strip using only 2.5 man-
hours per tonne.

According to the International Trade Administration’s report to the President on
Global Steel Trade, China is expected to spend U.S. $6 billion to upgrade its steel
industry over the next several years in an effort to improve its competitiveness for
China’s entry into the WTO. Much of this aid will go to China’s largest steelmakers,
over half in the form of low-interest loans.

Environmental Standards in China

Although China has reduced the production of steel in less efficient, more heavily
polluting open hearth furnaces, approximately 20 million metric tonnes of its raw
steel production still comes from 244 small steel plants. These small steelmakers
likely have little or no pollution control technology.

China has increased its production of blast furnace and foundry coke through
greater use of environmentally harmful beehive ovens. Furthermore the American
Coke and Coal Chemicals Institute has estimated that about 25 percent or 6,000 of
the workers producing and distributing foundry coke for export in China may be
children, who are paid wages of $20 per month.

Productivity and Labor Costs

Although China’s steel industry has grown dramatically over the last two decades,
it has not been due to efficient production.

According to World Steel Dynamics, the U.S.-based steel consulting firm, an aver-
age steel mill in China required 21.8 hours to produce and ship a metric tonne of
steel in 1999, compared to 4.6 hours in Canada, 4.1 hours in the United States and
4.0 hours in Japan. This is shown in the second attached graph.

But because steelworkers in China is paid just U.S.$1.25 per hour, despite the
poor productivity of most Chinese steel producers, employment costs average just
US$55 per tonne in China, compared to $157 in the United States and $162 per
tonne in Japan.

But even at just U.S.$1.25 per hour, steelworkers in China earn 5 times that of
the average manufacturing worker in China.

China Steel Trade

Despite the size of its steel industry, China is a net importer of steel. In 1999,
China imported 16.9 million tonnes of finished and semi-finished steel and exported
6.0 million tonnes of finished and semi-finished steel.

According to China’s State Bureau of Metallurgical Industry, China’s steel produc-
tion and demand are far from balanced. China overproduces wire rod, hot rolled bar,
plate and welded tubes. Yet, China must import higher grade products, such as hot
rolled sheet, cold rolled sheet, oil-country tubular goods, stainless steel, and tool
steel.

As shown in the third and fourth graphs attached to my testimony, China ex-
ported 6 million metric tonnes of finished and semi-finished steel in 2000, nearly
130% more than in 1990. Approximately 20% or 1.4 million metric tonnes of China’s
exports went to the United States.
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Despite a domestic shortage of hot rolled steel, China exported 350,000 metric
tonnes to the United States in 2000—or 26% of China’s exports to the U.S. The
other major products exported from China to the U.S. include semi-finished steel,
standard pipe, reinforcing bar, cut-to-length plate, and oil-country tubular goods.

The average steel import price from China is usually substantially below the aver-
age import price for the same product from other nations. For example, the 350,000
metric tonnes of hot rolled steel imported from China had an average price of $285
per tonne. This was about $20 per tonne less than the average import price and
$35 less than the average market price.

Not surprisingly, the European Union, Canada and United States all filed steel
dumping cases against Chinese steelmakers between 1996 and 2000.

Trade cases are currently pending in the United States against China’s
steelmakers involving blast furnace coke, hot rolled steel, steel concrete reinforcing
bar and foundry coke. The U.S. and China entered into a suspension agreement in
October 1997, limiting exports to the U.S. of certain cut-to-length carbon steel plate
until November 1, 2002.

So despite the modest levels of U.S. steel imports from China, there is ample evi-
dence for concern regarding the steel trade between the U.S. and China.

Concerns Regarding Continued Growth of Imports from China

While the United States imported 1.4 million metric tonnes of steel products from
China in 2000, there is overwhelming evidence to suggest that steel imports from
China will continue to increase, without any accompanying increase in U.S. steel
exports to China.

China is a formidable player in the world steel market. It is the world’s largest
steel producer and the largest producer of iron ore. China’s steel producers have low
labor costs perpetuated by the government backed suppression of worker’s rights,
have access to low-cost government capital, are not subject to the same rigorous en-
vironmental standards as many of their international competitors.

The trend of rising steel imports from China is likely to be reinforced by the ef-
forts of central planners to reduce overproduction of certain steel products or to
maintain production and employment.

China’s emergence as a growing presence in world steel trade has the potential
to create serious distortions in the international marketplace and threaten produc-
tive domestic capacity in the United States.

This is of enormous concern to steelworkers in the United States. To the extent
the United States has elected to pursue a policy with China of greater openness and
economic exchange, efforts to assist China with economic development should be
conditioned upon compliance with international labor standards.

While it would be wrong to attempt to deny China access to the tools of economic
development, such as a modern and efficient steel industry, the United States
should not allow multi-national corporations or state-owned enterprises to compete
in the international marketplace through the denial of worker rights and the use
of forced labor.

I echo the comments of AFL-CIO Secretary-Treasurer Richard Trumka, who, in
his testimony before this Commission in June, urged you to recommend the use of
the leverage of our trade relationship and the influence of our investors to support
the rights of Chinese workers and citizens, and to challenge the Chinese govern-
ment to participate in a serious dialogue about reform.

Working people have rights to organize to improve wages, working conditions and
workplace health and safety—be they in East Chicago, Illinois; Hamilton, Ontario;
or Shanghai, China.

Thank you for this opportunity to discuss these important issues.
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China Crude Steel Production

Million Metric Tonnes

1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

Source: International Iron and Steel Institute.

Comparative Labor Productivity

Japan
U.S.
Canada
S.Korea
Brazil
Mexico
CIs.
China

Hours Worked Per Metric Tonne

Note: Labor productivity for world cost curve reference plant comparisons as of April 2000.
Source: World Steel Dynamics, Steel Strategist #26, July 2000, Exhibit K7, page 104.
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China Steel Exports

Million Metric Tonnes

1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

Source: International Iron and Steel Institute.

U.S. Imports of Steel Mill Products From China

1.49

Million Net Tons

0.01 001 0.01

1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000

Source: American Iron and Steel Institute.
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Imports of Steel Mill Products from China

by Product
DECEMBER 2000, YEAR TO DATE

CARBON ALLOY STAINLESS TOTAL %

STEEL MILL PRODUCTS
SHEETS HOT ROLLED 392,653 1,744 394,397 26%
BLOOMS, BILLETS AND SLABS 170,311 97 6 170,414 11%
STANDARD PIPE 166,273 24 166,296 11%
BARS - REINFORCING 163,125 163,125 11%
PLATES CUT LENGTHS 148,182 1,279 149,462 10%
OIL COUNTRY GOODS 92,558 14,961 107,519 7%
PLATES IN COILS 91,326 1,001 92,327 6%
STRUCTURAL SHAPES HEAVY 83,485 20 83,506 6%
SHEETS COLD ROLLED 45,897 155 3,253 49,305 3%
LINE PIPE 30,790 28 30,818 2%
WIRE DRAWN 25,546 579 2,840 28,966 2%
SHEETS & STRIP GALV ELECTROLYTIC 12,451 12,451 1%
WIRE RODS 8,156 2,160 10,317 1%
MECHANICAL TUBING 6,377 159 6,535 0%
BARS - LIGHT SHAPES 5,684 41 5625 0%
SHEETS & STRIP GALV HOT DIPPED 4,829 4,829 0%
TOOL STEEL 3,829 3.829 0%
STAINLESS PIPE & TUBING 2,328 2,328 0%
PIPE & TUBING NONCLASSIFIED 1,904 100 2,005 0%
BARS-COLD FINISHED 1,301 126 69 1,495 0%
STRUCTURAL PIPE & TUBING 1,104 1,104 . 0%
BARS - HOT ROLLED 449 595 52 1,096 0%
STRIP - HOT ROLLED 774 774 0%
TIN PLATE 326 326 0%
PRESSURE TUBING 160 160 0%
RAILROAD ACCESSORIES 132 132 0%
STRIP - COLD ROLLED 11 2 26 39 0%
INGOTS AND STEEL FOR CASTINGS 20 20 0%
SHEETS & STRIP - ELECTRICAL 11 11 0%
TOTAL STEEL MILL PRODUCTS 1,489,211 100%

Note:  Data in Net Tons.
Source: American lron and Steel Institute.

United Steelworkers of America

PANEL I DISCUSSION AND QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Co-Chairman BECKER. Thank you, Mr. Usher. The Chairman will
start the questions.

Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much, both of you, for very
frank and clear testimony, right on the money in terms of the in-
quiries that this Commission will address.

I take it that the feeling from both of you, from both the business
and the labor side, is that there is not a high level of confidence
that WTO procedures will be effective in protecting the U.S. steel
industry from unfair practices and that we should continue to use
all the bilateral leverage and laws that are on the books here to
ensure fair treatment.

Neither of you mentioned the one tool that we have in the GATT,
Article XXI, which is the national security exception. Obviously,
correct me if I'm wrong, the Chinese in their subsidizes could con-
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sider their steel industry to be a national security asset, important
to their national security, as do other nations. I assume we do, too,
consider it a national security asset. So it seems to me an easy
reach logically to find that Article XXI of the GATT, in the event
of unfair trade practices, would impact on our national security and
would then lead to an additional tool or an additional rationale to
invoke U.S. bilateral leverage in this case. Would you both agree
with that?

Mr. UsHER. I would agree. I think it is important to put into con-
text that this is an industry, and people who aren’t close to it don’t
appreciate it, but this is an industry that is in trouble, and it’s not
just companies that are in trouble. This is an entire industry in
trouble.

And in any free market economy like we have, you can make the
argument that there are inefficient producers. They should go
away. That’s the way the market works, and we would fully ascribe
to that. But when every single company cannot earn their cost of
capital over the last five years, there is something wrong with
what’s going on.

I would characterize this industry, and George in his office had
a great poster showing the contribution of steel during the Second
World War, and a lot of people, I think, have the mistaken view
that the next war will be waged with missiles and high tech, et
cetera. You know, much of the steel that went into the effort went
into tanks and other pieces of armament, but it is the entire infra-
structure of the country. Steel is such a pervasive material that if
you are going to have a country of strength, you need a steel indus-
try.

You know, it is one thing to lose a color TV industry to the rest
of the world. It’s another thing when you don’t have a steel indus-
try and you need that for a whole host of different things, whether
it’s to build buildings or roads or infrastructure or sewer systems
or water systems or natural gas transmission lines or electricity
systems or whatever. Steel is an essential thing, and we are in the
process of eroding that in this country, while China, on the other
hand, continues to expand and is treating it as a military asset.

Mr. GERARD. I picked up, again from Tom, but before I do that,
let me just say that, speaking for the Steelworkers Union, we don’t
have faith that we can expect the WTO or GATT to protect the
steel industry, either. The most recent decisions by the WTO are
spitting in the face of the American Congress and the American
steel industry when they’ve overruled Congressional decision mak-
ing rules about how we should be able to protect our own industry.

There is a 232 hearing going on, being conducted by the Com-
merce Secretary’s office with regards to iron ore and semi-finished
steel. Because it’s verging on the cusp of collapse, and if you don’t
have the ability to make steel in this country and you view it like
you do t-shirts, running shoes, and TV sets, then you won’t have
an ability to have an industrial base to the country. You can’t make
a computer without steel. You can’t build roads and bridges. You
can’t move materials.

It’s not just—I was yesterday in Newport News shipyards in Vir-
ginia, the largest, most sophisticated aircraft carriers in the world.
Are we going to build those with Chinese steel? Are we going to
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build those with Russian steel? Are we going to build those with
steel from Kazakhstan? We're on the verge of losing the steel in-
dustry in this country.

To put it in a human perspective, there are 700,000 retirees and
dependents who get their retiree health care from an industry
that’s collapsing. If China expands their steel industry the way we
anticipate their doing and there is a downturn in China, the Amer-
ican steel industry, combined with a downturn in Russia, could be
wiped out in weeks unless we have the legislative means to protect
the industry and its workers. I have no doubt about that.

I would think it would be incumbent upon this country to iden-
tify the steel industry as a strategic industry for national defense
and for mnational security. I view those as two separate
terminologies. National security, in my view, is the ability to have
an industrial economy. It’s the ability to build a computer, to build
a road. National defense is a little bit more, in my head, like New-
port News and tanks and guns. But for both those reasons, we
need a strong industry.

Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Commissioner Mulloy?

Commissioner MULLOY. Mr. Usher, on page five of your prepared
testimony, you talk about safeguards and you talk about that we
got a provision in our agreement that we would be able to use the
safeguard provision for 12 years following China’s accession to the
WTO. But then, interestingly, you point out Congress must enact
legislation fully implementing this provision. Did we not take care
of that in the legislation that was passed to do PNTR or do we
have to come back and pass separate legislation to fully implement
the safeguard provision that we negotiated?

Mr. UsHER. I think it’s my understanding, Commissioner, that
they need to do additional work there, but I'd have to get back and
amend that.

Commissioner MULLOY. Here’s what I would urge, is that if you,
looking at the package that was negotiated, and if there are things
that were not taken care of in the PNTR bill that you think are
necessary to fully implement the bilateral and then the subsequent
final package with China and the WTO, it would be very important
for us to know that so that we could consider that in our rec-
ommendations to the Congress next March, or before. We have
been invited to give recommendations if we think they’re really im-
portant when we

Mr. UsHER. We'll follow up on that.

Commissioner MULLOY. Good. Thank you.

Mr. UsHER. Good suggestion.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Commissioner Robinson?

Commissioner ROBINSON. Yes. I'd like to ask both of you a little
bit more about the financing element. I was, of course, intrigued
by both of your comments concerning the U.S. Export-Import Bank
as well as the role that Mr. Gerard discussed in terms of what are
known in town as international financial institutions, I think pri-
marily the World Bank and arms of the World Bank like the Inter-
national Finance Corporation, which I understand is a rather heav-
ily subsidized vehicle used for beleaguered developing countries,
but which China has had access to.
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According to our briefing materials for this hearing, for example,
Krupp-Thyssen [ph.] partnered with Shanghai Pudong Iron and
Steel Group [ph.] to do a $1.4 billion expansion of a stainless steel
plant that was reportedly financed by, in part, the International Fi-
nancial Corporation. Now, obviously, the U.S., as you know, has
something in the neighborhood of an 18 to 20 percent share of
World Bank capital and, in effect, voting leverage. These are deci-
sions that the U.S. needs to concur in. It would be very interesting
to go back and see what our vote was or whether we had a position
on the matter.

And, of course, Export-Import Bank is self-evident. That’s our
show. But the Overseas Private Investment Corporation, I don’t
know whether it’s gotten involved in assisting overseas steel capac-
ity, for example.

But this is an important element, and by the way, I am sympa-
thetic to the argument that steel is a vital part of the defense in-
dustrial base of the United States from a national security perspec-
tive.

Having said that, what progress do you feel—I'd like to hear
from each of you—that you’ve made to date in terms of sensitizing
this administration or the previous administration concerning this
Ex-Im Bank matter of stepping up to finance an industry overseas
in vast oversupply at the expense of our own industry? And like-
wise, any progress to date on international financial institutions,
and depending on the answer there, what would your recommenda-
tions be if you're not satisfied that concrete steps are being taken
in a sensible way to defend the industry from the predations of
overseas subsidized suppliers.

Mr. GERARD. I want to take some institutional credit and to allo-
cate some credit to my friend and colleague Commissioner Becker,
as well as Tom Usher and the steel industry for having sensitized
the Export-Import Bank on the issue of subsidizing, or additionally
subsidizing, if that’s the right word, the expansion of the Chinese
steel industry.

Through the steel industry’s work and Co-Chairman Becker’s
work, just recently, the Senate Finance Committee and the folks
responsible for overseeing the Export-Import Bank cut the alloca-
tion by a small amount, but to send a clear signal, and they ex-
pressed their reasons for doing that, which was particularly di-
rected at the silly subsidization of the steel industry’s expansion.

Having said that, I don’t think that there has been sufficient
oversight and sufficient concern, sufficient value allocation to the
other, as you referred to, international financial institutions who
are continuously funding global overcapacity in a number of sec-
‘g)}rl's, but in most recent terms, more aggressively than ever in

ina.

I think that there ought to be rules and the rules ought to be
clearly tied, first and foremost, to the set of values that exist. Are
there workers’ rights? Are there environmental rights? Are there
those things, and is there a global overcapacity in that sector?
What will be the direct benefit? And then how do we guarantee
against that expansion being targeted back at America? And if we
identify the steel industry, as I well think it should be, as an im-
portant strategic industry for defense and national security, then
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there ought to be steps to make sure that that subsidization can’t
be redirected back to this country.

Clearly, I think that recommendations about the oversight of
these global financial institutions and their role in helping to exac-
erbate the pending catastrophe has to be a cornerstone of any rec-
ommendations that would come.

Mr. UsHER. I would only add that we are working very aggres-
sively on the latest banking bill to try and get restrictions to pro-
hibit the type of thing that the Export-Import Bank did recently,
and at every opportunity, we try to sensitize people in the adminis-
tration and on the Hill to what’s going on. In many cases, we find
it’s a case of the right hand not knowing what the left hand is
doing, and so it’s a constant challenge to try and keep bringing this
to people’s attention, because it just makes no sense to continue to
subsidize an industry that has as much world over capacity as
steel.

Mr. GERARD. Let me add one point that I forgot. I assume that
the Commission has looked into it or heard about it. It was the at-
tempt by a number of Wall Street financial institutions to sort of
redirect American capital to China in the attempt to market shares
in Petro China and the role that the labor movement did in expos-
ing that.

I don’t know how you market shares in an industry that doesn’t
have a market economy and isn’t governed by the rule of law. So
I would be extremely worried about other Wall Street institutions
attempting to take a government industry in China, theoretically
private, and using that to raise capital for the expansion of that in-
dustry back in China.

I think the Petro China deal got exposed for what it was. It was
a sham and the process collapsed. But I am extremely convinced
that Wall Street is back figuring out how to do another sham be-
cause they will probably lose the Social Security one, too, so they
are going to have to find some other way to generate some fees.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Thank you. Let’s move on to Commis-
sioner Lewis.

Commissioner LEWIS. Mr. Usher, I'd like to ask you first, you
mentioned in your statement that the Shougang steel mill has
more employees than the entire U.S. steel industry. Could you give
me some numbers there, please.

Mr. UsHER. This is an industry that back in the mid-’80s prob-
ably had about five times as many people as are working today. At
U.S. Steel, for example, we currently have 18,000 people. In the
mid-"80s, this number would have been closer to 100,000 people.

This notion that the U.S. worker is not a productive worker is
totally without merit. We, I would say, and I have visited steel
mills around the world. There is no steel industry in the world that
is as productive as the workers are today, and this has come at
great expense and many workers have been retired. Many retired
early. It has put a tremendous burden on the system, but the com-
panies are taking care of their obligations in terms of pensions and
retiree health care to these people.

But we have become a very, very efficient industry, and as I
think Leo said in his testimony, today at U.S. Steel, for example,
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we are under three man hours per ton of steel produced, where in
China it would be 20 man hours per ton of steel produced.

Commissioner LEWIS. How many total employees in the U.S.
steel industry today?

Mr. UsHER. In the total industry, I don’t know, maybe Leo has
that number——

Mr. GERARD. About 250.

Commissioner LEWIS. Two-hundred-and-fifty thousand?

Mr. GERARD. It depends how you define the industry. We would
define it as making steel.

Commissioner LEWIS. Yes, of course.

Mr. GERARD. About 250.

Commissioner LEWIS. And how many employees at the Shougang
steel mill?

Mr. UsHER. Was that in the testimony?

Commissioner LEWIS. On page four, you said one Chinese mill
employs more workers than the entire U.S. steel industry.

Mr. UsHER. I think it’s in the neighborhood of that 250. The Chi-
nese industry has over three million workers producing, I think my
number is 126 million metric tons.

Cq)mmissioner LEwis. A hundred-and-twenty-six million metric
tons?

Mr. UsHER. A hundred-and-twenty-six million metric tons.
The——

Commissioner LEWIS. Three million employees?

Mr. UsHER. Three million employees. That one mill, Bill tells me,
has close to 300,000 workers, or that one company.

Commissioner LEWIS. Thank you, Mr. Usher. I just wanted to get
those numbers out.

Mr. USHER. Yes.

Commissioner LEWIS. Actually, your company or representatives
are members of the Business Roundtable?

Mr. USHER. Yes, we are on the Business Roundtable, yes.

Commissioner LEWIS. Right. What happens when you discuss
among other corporate leaders the problems facing the steel indus-
try? What is their response to you when you talk to them about the
things you talked to us today?

Mr. UsHER. I would say, in general, it depends on who it is.

Commissioner LEWIS. Go ahead. Give me the range.

Mr. USHER. I mean, some people are very interested in being
able to sell things to China and they really don’t care about the
steel industry.

Commissioner LEWIS. Well, the fact is that we’re only selling
China $15 billion worth of goods and they’re selling us $100 billion
worth of goods.

Mr. USHER. Yeah, but if you're one of that 15, they tend to view
that in a very parochial way. So I have quite heated arguments,
I would have to say, with some of my fellow BRT members.

Commissioner LEWIS. And what happens when you discuss the
national security implications? What’s that discussion like?

Mr. UsHER. Again, it depends. There’s no, I would say, uni-
formity. Some people are sensitive to it and agree. Others don’t see
it as a major problem. So it’s like any group. There’d be a diver-
gence of opinion.
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Commissioner LEWIS. Do they think we can build with Chinese
steel and Russian steel and U.S. aircraft carriers?

Mr. UsHER. There are people, whether at BRT or elsewhere, who
think it is going to be a grand happy world forever. There are oth-
ers who think belligerence will continue in the future. History has
taught me that I'm in the camp of the latter.

Commissioner LEWIS. If U.S. Steel were permitted to invest in a
steel mill in China and take advantage of the low wages there,
would your company do that?

Mr. UsHER. No. I'd be much more interested in having the laws
that protect the market in the United States and investing in the
United States. I mean, just to put in perspective, the U.S. market
today consumes about 125 million tons. Domestically, we can
produce 100 million tons. So the other 25 million tons has to be im-
ported, and that’s a crime, in my opinion.

The thing that keeps people from investing in the United States
is this irrationality of the way trade is conducted in steel. Most of
the rest of the world, including China, especially, has barriers to
steel coming into their economies. Hence, whenever there is any
kind of downturn in the world, Russia, Asian crisis, whatever, it all
comes here.

So for a person that is in a market where there is a deficit of
steel, I would love to go out and build new steel mills, employ new
steelworkers in the United States, but I can’t really do that be-
cause I can’t tell you in 2004 or 2006 what’s going to happen.
Something in the world could just, as it happened over the last
three years, destroy this industry. That’s what the problem is. So
I wouldn’t be as interested in building in China as I would be in
building in the United States.

Commissioner LEWIS. Thank you. Mr. Gerard, I'd like to ask you
a question. I've long felt that the right to unionize has several
ramifications. Number one, you can’t have unions in a country
that’s not a democracy, so it’s like a canary in a mine shaft. It’s
a test of whether a country is democratic.

The second aspect of this is that Korea has pretty strong labor
unions and the Korean steel industry has people who belong to
unions there. Because they belong to unions, they’re able to get
wages to the point where they are living wages and they can buy
American goods. The Chinese workers in the steel mills or the
Mexican workers in the steel mills are not unionized and their
wages are not increasing and they can’t buy American goods.

So it seems to me that labor rights in trade agreements not only
refers to the ability to have them earn more money compared to
us, but it gives them the ability to buy American goods because
they're earning wages that are really living wages. I'd like your
comments on that.

Mr. GERARD. I agree with you. I think that, if I can do this sort
of sequentially, that trade union rights are the canary in the mine
shaft. I have told this story probably 100 times, but this is another
opportunity to tell it.

Commissioner LEWIS. I mean, Solidarity was the union that
broke the——

Mr. GERARD. The story that I want to tell you is around that
time. In the New Yorker, there was a full-page cartoon. I don’t
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know if any of you ever saw it. It was a split-screen cartoon and
in half of the screen, it had General Jaruzelski in Poland standing
on his balcony. He was then the president, the communist presi-
dent of Poland, and the workers down below were marching and
they had signs that said, “Free Democratic Trade Unions,” and on
that screen, he was looking down and he said, “Damn fascists.”

[Laughter.]

In Chile, they had General Pinochet standing on his balcony with
all of his medals looking down and the workers were marching
with their signs and they said, “Free Democratic Trade Unions,”
and he said, “Damn communists.”

[Laughter.]

The reality is that you can’t have a democracy if you don’t have
a free independent trade union movement. If you don’t have a free
independent trade union movement, there is no ability for the
workers to bargain collectively. Collective bargaining is the best
tool for the redistribution of the wealth that workers create. It’s
even better than the tax system. And through that system of collec-
tive bargaining, you can, in fact, over time, raise the standard of
living of workers.

I have some strong concerns about the way the economy in Korea
is managed and there is the whole issue of subsidization and all
of that, so I don’t want to give that ground, but I will say that in
the period of time where Korean workers have been able to have
free and independent trade unions, their standard of living and
their dignity in their workplace and their ability to have what we
would call a middle-class lifestyle is now on its way. Theyre not
there, but they’re a lot closer than they were.

I would view that as a cornerstone of any relationship with any
trading partner, whether it’s Mexico, China, Vietnam, or Jordan,
whoever it is that we have a relationship with trade. Capitalism is
not value neutral. You can attach values to it by setting the rules,
and when you set rules that are going to punish workers, then you
state what your values are. So when America is not prepared to set
rules with China that articulate American values, or with Mexico,
you are sending a very strong message.

I actually believe that the trading agreements, and this is prob-
ably for a different discussion in a different forum, that these trad-
ing agreements aren’t meant to raise the living standards of the
workers in the countries in which we’re doing them. They’re meant
to create centers of exploitation. Mexican workers’ wages have fall-
en 25 percent since NAFTA. Our trade deficit, which was, what, a
couple of billion dollars, has skyrocketed through the roof in the
last five years with China. Chinese workers’ living standards have
fallen. More workers are going to prison. They've got to staff their
prisons, because that’s where they do their manufacturing. There’s
more exploitation, not less, because that’s how they do it.

Commissioner LEWIS. Then finally, I'd like to ask Mr. Usher a
question. May 1?

Co-Chairman BECKER. Quickly.

Commissioner LEWIS. Okay. People from other countries visit our
industries, and I'm sure you have visitors from China coming. Do
you have access to their mills? Do they let you visit them the way
they visit us?
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Mr. UsHER. I would say, in a very limited sense. I would say
coming over here is much more open. Over there, we are able to
see what they want us to see. So in a very selective way.

Commissioner LEWIS. Thank you.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Commissioner Dreyer?

Commissioner DREYER. As the time for accession by China to
WTO draws near, we all become more aware of the inadequacies
of the WTO remedies for dispute resolution, and I believe you both
mentioned that. Can either of you suggest any improvement in
those provisions, or do you also see as a major problem the unwill-
ingness of successive U.S. administrations to use the remedies that
they have available, although, for example, as Japan has just tried
to use sanctions has shown, it can backfire badly, as well.

Mr. USHER. I would say there is a tremendous clamor, for exam-
ple, around the world to get rid of the current antidumping laws
that we have in this country. Certainly, people who are interested
in unrestricted trade often say that this is a hindrance. I would say
that it is just the opposite.

As we rely more and more on the WTO for trade resolutions, we
need to keep in place our trade laws so that, in fact, if the trade
resolutions drag on or really are inconsistent with what the objec-
tives of the WTO are, that we have good trade laws in place that
we can fall back on. This idea of turning over our national sov-
ereignty, which is what we’re doing with the WTO, without ade-
quate laws on our books, I think would be a mistake.

Commissioner DREYER. Excuse me. It seems to me, however, that
laws are only as good as the willingness of the people behind them
to enforce them.

Mr. USHER. Yeah, and, I mean, that is another problem. The ad-
ministrations come and go. Some are more committed to things
than others and that’s a challenge, but that’s what we have in a
democracy and it’s something I think we need to continue to work
on.
Mr. GERARD. I would pick up, and just let me come back to the
WTO issue. I don’t have faith in the WTO process and I think the
WTO from the point of view of workers, from the point of view of
national sovereignty, from the point of view of enhancing and pro-
tecting and promoting democracy is a totally flawed process. It has
nothing to do with trade. It has nothing to do with democracy. It
has nothing to do with protecting workers. What it has to do with
is protecting investment rights. These are all investment agree-
ments. They’re not trade agreements and we ought to quit fooling
ourselves about that, in my view.

The reality of—again, I keep coming back and saying that invest-
ments in capital aren’t value neutral. They have the values you at-
tach to them. I think that we ought to be pushing for not just the
enforcement of our existing trade laws, but we need to strengthen
those trade laws.

I think it’s immoral, I think it’s wrong, I think it flies in the face
of the values that built this country and other democracies for us
to actively promote an integrated trading relationship with a coun-
try like China.

Commissioner DREYER. So if I understand you correctly, you're
saying that the WTO process is fundamentally flawed
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Mr. GERARD. Yes.

Commissioner DREYER. —and what we should rely on is
strengthening our domestic regulations with regard to dumping, et
cetera.

Mr. GERARD. Yes, and let me also—part of that is that I think
it’s wrong for us as a nation to elect officials to govern us and then
turn the governance over to a society that meets in secret and we
don’t know what the rules are and who gives testimony and under
what conditions they made their decision.

Mr. USHER. One issue on the WTO is in this transparency. As
Leo says, it’s difficult to find out what’s going on.

Co-Chairman BECKER. I want to inject something just very quick-
ly here, since we’re on that subject. Japan has challenged the hot
rolled case, which was decided in the industry’s favor during the
Asian crisis, I think about 1998. How do you see that unfolding,
the WTO decision in support of China and challenging the——

Mr. USHER. In support of Japan.

Co-Chairman BECKER. —I mean, excuse me, Japan, and chal-
lenging the legality of our trade laws. How do you see this pro-
ceeding from this point?

Mr. UsHER. I guess I don’t know for sure. I would hope that the
administration would continue to stick with the position they have
of following our trade laws, but the Japanese, for example, have
been very, very aggressive in going after this dumping law. They
think it is designed to hurt them, and, in effect, it is, because
today, I could load steel that I produce at Gary works, put it on
a 747 in a first class seat, and take it over and sell it in Japan and
make money on it. They have a closed market. We can’t get in
there for the high-quality steel applications, and it’s not just us. No
steel company in American can.

So the Japanese have a system of a closed market, closed a thou-
sand different ways, and yet they want to come over here and sell
steel, incremental steel, at pricing that allows them to keep their
mills at full employment. I mean, how this thing will be resolved
at the WTO between our laws and that practice, I think is a seri-
ous issue, and it is our hope that we have some backbone on this
thing and don’t roll over.

Mr. GERARD. Let me put it in additional perspective and try to
bring it back to what could beat China. Japan has 66 million tons
of domestic overcapacity. That didn’t happen by accident. They had
a deliberate policy to build more steel mills to have more steel to
use it to export and to bring back dollars to do whatever it is they
want to do back in Japan. It won’t be long that China will be doing
the same thing because this is the only open market, totally open
market in Canada—Canada is too small—in the world. So if you
are going to try to dump for dollars, this is the place to do it when
you've got such a strong currency, as well.

On the issue of WTO, our learned and well-informed former Gen-
eral Counsel Carl Frankel sent me an e-mail last night. He’s ana-
lyzed this most recent Japan WTO case and he said it has the po-
tential to destroy the industry and he thinks that it could be dead-
ly. Remember that every nation that has a domestic overcapacity
in steel, which is every nation that produces steel but two, is tar-
geting our trade laws. If these decisions by the WTO eliminate the
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guts that it takes to stand up for American industry and American
workers, it will be the death not just of the steel industry and oth-
ers.

Currently, under the U.S. trade laws, it’s much more helpful if
the administration would support cases that we’ve brought with
the industry on antidumping or subsidy or even 201, but it’s not
mandatory that they do it. One of the reasons the Bush adminis-
tration stepped forward is the Steelworkers Union was going to do
it the week after they stepped forward. If no one else was going to
do it, we were going to initiate the 201. Now, if they wipe out our
trade laws, we can’t do that. We can’t even stand up to defend our-
selves. That’s how perverted the system now is becoming.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Thank you. Commissioner Reinsch?

Commissioner REINSCH. Thanks. I'm sorry I was late and missed
part of your testimony, but I had a chance to review it. I want to
pick up where Roger left off on some of this Ex-Im stuff, if I could,
very briefly.

Mr. Gerard mentioned the Visclosky amendment, the one that re-
duced the Ex-Im’s appropriation by $18 million in retaliation, I
guess, for the Benxi loan guarantee. Mr. Gerard indicated he was
for that. I assume, Mr. Usher, you were for it, too?

Mr. USHER. Yes.

Commissioner REINSCH. Help me out here, then. It seems to me
the effect of that amendment, which is prospective, is simply to
deny other American exporters the opportunity to export in non-
steel areas. Why is that a good thing?

Mr. GERARD. I don’t understand your question.

Commissioner REINSCH. The effect of reducing the Ex-Im Bank’s
funding is to preclude other companies, other American companies,
from taking advantage of it.

Mr. GERARD. I don’t——

Commissioner REINSCH. There’s less money to go around, $18
million less, which means there’s going to be some American ex-
porters, probably not in your sector, who are not going to be able
to get loan guarantees because of that amendment. Why is that
good?

Mr. GERARD. I think it’s probably good because I could take you
through probably 20 industrial products, from automobiles, auto
parts, electronics, televisions, that are in global oversupply, and
American Export-Import Bank and other international financial in-
stitutions are the guilty culprits in subsidizing and funding that
global oversupply. We're currently talking about steel, but we could
do that in a number of other products that are funding their expan-
sion in non-market economies or in economies that exploit their
workers, like Mexico, and that global oversupply is then targeted
back to this market. I don’t know that it does anything good for
American workers and I am convinced it does nothing good for
American consumers.

C(I{I})lmissioner REINSCH. So you'd favor getting rid of the Ex-Im
Bank?

Mr. GERARD. No, I'd favor putting some values on the capital
that it uses.

Commissioner REINSCH. Okay, but how does the Visclosky
amendment do that?
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Mr. GERARD. I think that the Visclosky amendment sends a very
clear signal that when you’re making these decisions, you ought to
make sure that you're very cognizant of the damage you could be
causing in America, and in the Export-Import Bank, $18 million is
peanuts. It’s only a shot over the bow.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, if you multiply the effect of it on
the ability of the bank to make loan guarantees, the estimates I've
seen suggest you're effectively canceling somewhere between $100
and $200 million worth of loan guarantees.

Mr. GERARD. I personally would have been much happier if the
number had been much higher.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, just as an aside, it seems to me
one of the things you’re doing is costing yourself some friends else-
where in other industries

Mr. GERARD. In what industry?

Commissioner REINSCH. —because what you’re doing is pun-
ishing other American industries because you don’t like a decision
that the Ex-Im Bank made.

Mr. GERARD. I would respectfully disagree with you.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, let’s turn——

Mr. GERARD. I think that we’re sending a value signal for what
America stands for and we should not stand for that kind of sub-
sidization/exploitation of Chinese workers or Mexican workers or
any other workers where the bank feels it ought to go and dump
this capital.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, you're sending that signal to the
bank, which is fine. I think you’re sending a very different signal
to your industrial colleagues in the United States.

Mr. GERARD. I disagree.

Commissioner REINSCH. But let’s turn to the other question you
raised, which Mr. Usher mentioned, which is the Bayh amendment
in the Senate. I'm intrigued by the Bayh amendment for two rea-
sons. One, it’s not an amendment, as I understand it, unless it’s
been changed, designed to deal with the overcapacity problem that
Mr. Gerard just alluded to. It’s an amendment designed to deal
with unfair trade practices and to punish foreign producers who en-
gage in unfair trade practices, which is a perfectly legitimate policy
objective. I'm not complaining. But it’s not an overcapacity issue.

I guess my question is two-fold, and maybe Mr. Usher wants to
respond to this. One is why did you choose to go down that route
rather than the overcapacity route, and two, on the amendment in
particular, as I understand it, unless it’s been changed, it would
prohibit bank funding not only for cases of outstanding 201 find-
ings or dumping duty orders or CBD orders, but also prevent fi-
nancing to people that are under investigation in these cases,
which seems to me to be hanging them before the verdict. Can you
give us your thinking on both of those?

Mr. UsHER. Yeah. I guess I would say on this overcapacity thing,
as Leo said, everybody has overcapacity, and currently, there are
about 25 million tons of imports that need to come into this coun-
try, and a number of imports come into this country and they don’t
violate our laws and the system sort of needs that amount of im-
ports.
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The problem is, those countries that have both the overcapacity,
as most countries do, but also trade and bring it in here basically
and destroy the market. This market needs a certain amount of im-
ports. We don’t have the domestic capacity to handle that, so we
need imports, but we can’t have those people who are violating the
laws being the importers. So it is really more geared towards that.

The second point I think you made, it’s not just companies or
countries that have actually violated those laws, in which there are
charges against them. I guess our view would be that these things
should be able to be resolved relatively quickly and this shouldn’t
be a lengthy time process. But if there is a country that has had
a history of doing this, and again there are charges that they are
dumping, rather than be precipitous and approve some type of a
loan to them, let’s just wait and see what the results are.

Commissioner REINSCH. Well, I know the industry, because I
worked with you for a long time, has a long history of trying to get
these cases resolved more quickly, with good reason, because
they're not, and the industry has a long history of complaining
about how long it takes. I certainly agree they should be resolved
quickly. But these things tend to take between nine and 14
months, as I recall, which means you're

Mr. UsHER. Far longer than it should.

Commissioner REINSCH. No argument, but the consequence of
that is you’re knocking people—essentially, you're executing them
before the conviction here, and I personally think it ought to be the
other way around.

But leaving that aside, let me ask quickly about exports. Histori-
call{;f, the U.S. industry has not been a huge exporter of steel. Why
not?

Mr. UsHER. Well, we have. In fact, in the early ’90s, we exported
quite a bit of steel to China. Steel is a product that has, you know,
just to put some numbers in perspective, say a value of $400 a ton
and it costs $50 a ton to move it around the world. It is a product
that is probably, if it can be produced efficiently, best produced
close to where the market is. This is a business that has not had
the kind of margins that can pay for the cost of production and
then also add a §l5O bill on top of it to move it to some other part
in the world.

So from a domestic standpoint, we have been in a deficit position.
Imports are coming into this country. To disadvantage us to try to
move it to some other country and pay an extra $50 hasn’t made
sense for the most part.

There are also countries in which there are attractive markets
that we would want to get into for certain niche products that are
very high profitability products, but we really are restricted be-
cause of closed markets within those countries.

Mr. GERARD. Let me just, on the issue of exporting, Tom and I
may disagree about this, but for reasons that are beyond debate
today, the industry shut down almost 60 percent of its capacity
during the ’80s and wiped out close to 300,000 jobs, part of what
I think was in a rush, way too quickly, to move up the productivity
curve. And what that did, it left a vacuum for countries to set up
permanent residence on the export end in this country, and it’s like
inviting the disease in.
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I think that we’ve never been able to recover from that as a steel
industry and the imports have continuously climbed up the curve
to the point where, if you go back to the mid-’80s, President
Reagan endorsed the VRAs when imports were in the range of 18
to 19 percent. Imports in the last surge were up in the 38 percent,
and we’re going to end up being pleased when they drop back down
to 24, 25, 26, 27 percent.

That chunk of your market being chewed up makes it very dif-
ficult for you to sustain long-term stability, which makes it very
difficult for you to grow your capacity, which makes it very difficult
for you to have steel that you could export, which means that
you've got to then find, as Tom pointed out, these niche markets
where you can maybe export some sort of thin slice of what you
produce, but never enough to be an exporter.

Co-Chairman BECKER. If I could break the line here, if you don’t
mind, we have two Commissioners that have indicated they have
questions that have not yet spoken. I'd like to give them an oppor-
tunity, looking at the clock up there. If I could go, let’s see, Com-
missioner Ledeen.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. This ends at 9:30?

Co-Chairman BECKER. Yes.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. Jim, why don’t you go first, and then if
there’s any time left over

Commissioner LILLEY. I've just got a very short question I'd like
to get your observation on.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Commissioner Lilley?

Commissioner LILLEY. Shougong Iron and Steel outside of Beijing
has, I think, roughly 150,000 workers in it. It’s about ten or 20
miles west of Beijing.

Mr. GERARD. I can’t hear you.

Commissioner LILLEY. Shougong Iron and Steel is in Beijing. It’s
about ten or 20 miles west of the center of town. It’s about 150,000
workers and it’s gone through great convulsions because it’s been
accused of massive corruption. It was tied to the former mayor of
Beijing, who is now in jail. Its management was attacked for very
inefficient practices, and you tie that into other reports we have of
worker violent demonstrations in Manchuria in these old mills that
the Japanese built probably prior to World War II, very backward.
A lot of discontent in the labor market, both at the management
level and worker level.

My question is, are we turning the Chinese steel industry—I re-
alize they’re exporting to us and they can do these things, but is
this an industry really that has some very fundamental problems,
and as China goes into its so-called growth, are we going to see this
industry maybe begin to rip apart, go downhill? It’s showing a lot
of signs of being in real trouble. A question: Is this true?

Mr. GERARD. I don’t know what you mean by going downhill. The
stuff that we’re reading is that part of the challenge that they’re
trying to deal with is the modernization and, I guess, the level of
dissent based on the level of exploitation that’s going on with that.
People are trying to express that displeasure and ending up in jail
and, I guess, other places.

I think that there is going to be an accelerated modernization of
the industry as it moves up the production curve to add ten, 15,
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20—I was just reading this morning that there’s three projects on
that will add four million tons that will be of the efficiency of the
U.S. steel industry. I don’t know if that will be tons to replace a
mill that produces two million tons with 22,000 workers. I don’t
know. We can produce two million tons in some mills with 350
workers. Or I don’t know if theyll keep those mills open and
produce those new four million tons with 1,000 workers. I don’t
have access to that kind of knowledge of China.

Mr. UsHER. I think some of the Chinese industry, especially
some of the new stuff that’s being built, is up to world class stand-
ards and probably could be a very competitive force in the world
going forward. A lot of the problem is a lot of these older mills that
you made reference to that are continued to be run, and in a free
market economy, there would be no way they could stay afloat.

I'm often reminded of a story that was in the USA Today about,
I guess, about three years ago, and it was a refrigerator plant in
China in which they had become distressed with the quality levels.
So some people from the government went out and they got all the
workers out in front of the plant and they called out the plant
manager and the manager of quality control and shot them. Short-
term, this is a great motivator. Long-term, it makes you wonder
about how it will stay together.

Is this thing going to disintegrate? I don’t know. Is the whole
country going to disintegrate?

Co-Chairman BECKER. Where did that happen, the shootings?

Mr. UsHER. I forget. I read this in the USA Today. I'd have to
go back and research it, but it was a story that just sort of empha-
sized to me how things are different in China.

Co-Chairman BECKER. About how long ago, Tom?

Mr. UsHER. Like I say, I think it was about three years ago. I'm
going to have to do some research on that, but it was in a story
in the USA Today about this refrigerator plant.

Mr. GERARD. I could well envision, as you think about this and
you think about the social consequences and the Chinese sort of po-
litical economic structure, I could well envision the Chinese making
one of two decisions, building all of this new capacity with modern
state-of-the-art technology and then deciding whether that will be
for export or for domestic consumption and keeping all of that old
capacity that has 22,000 workers making two million tons and de-
ciding whether that will be for export or for consumption domesti-
cally, and why would they not build domestic overcapacity if every-
one else is attacking the U.S. trade laws and everyone else is
knocking down the very slim, narrow protections we have already?
And then why wouldn’t they target that domestic overcapacity to
America?

I don’t for one minute believe, regardless of what any politician
says, that the Chinese government intends to be the long-term
friends and allies of America. I have a much different view of that.

Commissioner LILLEY. Well, we’re going to talk about that tomor-
row.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Commissioner Ledeen?

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. Could we just review the bidding on a
couple points, because I'm not clear. Just quickly, do we have the
legislation that we need from your point of view, and if not, what
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do we need that we don’t have, whether within the GATT or WTO
or domestic context?

Mr. UsHER. I would say we do not. We're continuing to try and
work on it, but we need continued strengthening of the anti-
dumping and countervailing duty legislation. We need sort of rules
of engagement to keep what happened in steel over the last three
years from reoccurring. And we need much more timely resolution
of these types of things than we have had.

Mr. GERARD. I would again reiterate Tom’s point about we need
to strengthen America’s domestic trade laws. We certainly need to
speed them up. I think that one of the problems with the law is
that you've got to prove you've been almost fatally wounded. You've
got to prove that you've been damaged to the point where it hurts
to get some kind of remedy.

The other thing is, I will reiterate my comments about the WTO
and these other international trade agreements. I think all of them
in the long term for America’s sovereignty, for America’s ability to
have a strong industrial base, for advocating and promoting and
defending America’s historical values, that these laws are terribly
flawed. Let me just give you one example.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. With all due sympathy, we've got——

Mr. GERARD. As long as you’re sympathetic.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. We've got two minutes left, and I'm very
sympathetic, but I have another couple of questions. I'd like to ask
the two of you if you’ll be good enough to give us in writing specific
suggestions for legislation.

Mr. GERARD. Sure.

Mr. USHER. Yes.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. Because this is part of our mandate and
we can address this and we’d like to address it. I'm sure all of us
would like to address it.

Mr. USHER. Yes, we'll give a joint

Mr. GERARD. We'll try to do a joint presentation.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. Well, I mean, that looks very suspicious,
but

Mr. UsSHER. Okay. We'll give independent, then.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. But if you insist, that’s fine.

Mr. GERARD. We'll take it both ways.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. I'd like to just

Mr. GERARD. We'll give you ours and we'll let Tom agree with us.

[Laughter.]

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. I'd like to make one comment on the ca-
nary in the mine shaft, which was obviously an inescapable meta-
phor for this session. Trade unions in and of themselves are not an
indicator of anything, speaking as a historian of fascism. Com-
munist regimes, fascist regimes had trade unions. It’s free trade
unions.

Mr. GERARD. Those were the terms I used, free democratic.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. Yes. The issue is democracy. It’s not
that the existence of trade unions indicate either one thing or an-
other. It’s that a free society permits free trade unions and an
unfree society produces phony trade unions, as they have all
throughout the century.
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The last question is on productivity. Do you have any sense—MTr.
Usher, you just said that your understanding is that modern Chi-
nese steel producers are going to be competitive with the rest of the
world. By that do you mean that their productivity will be as good
as ours, or

Mr. UsHER. I doubt—productivity measured in labor input per
ton will still be higher than ours, but they will have world class
equipment and they will be able to be very productive and very
competitive, I would say.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. Okay. When we were studying the So-
viet Union, one of the interesting things about it was that if you
tracked Western turnkey factories into the Soviet Union, you had
a 40 percent drop in productivity. It didn’t matter what the field
was, whether it was Italian cars or German chemicals or French
textiles and so forth.

I don’t believe that we have any sensation, that we have any un-
derstanding of whether a similar thing happens when Western
companies, when Western technologies go into China. It would be
invaluable for policy makers in the United States to be able to get
a grip on this. I mean, how does China function? How good are
they at managing large-scale enterprises?

Steel is a great window through which to look at this question.
If you have information about it or if you could point us in a direc-
tion where we could put a researcher to work on it, we’d be very
grateful for this.

Mr. UsHER. Okay, we’ll look. But as I said in the past, they cer-
tainly don’t have the transparency that we would have and we'’re
limited in what we can see when we travel there, but we’ll look and
see if we can give you something that would assist you.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. Thanks.

Mr. GERARD. Just for the record, Commissioner, I want to make
sure that you didn’t in any way misinterpret any of my words. I'm
very careful to always use the word “free democratic trade unions.”
I understand the difference.

Commissioner LEWIS. And that is exactly what I meant, Commis-
sioner Ledeen. That is not the canary in the mine shaft.

Vice Chairman LEDEEN. I know.

Co-Chairman BECKER. We're going to have a couple of very quick
questions here to wrap up. Commissioner D’Amato?

Chairman D’AMATO. I don’t really have a question. First of all,
I want to thank you for your testimony. I think it’s been very illu-
minating and invaluable testimony, and I appreciate your taking
time out to come visit with us.

I want to follow up just one point that the Vice Chairman made
and asked you to provide us, that’s legislation. Also in that sum-
mary, could you assess why it is that the current American legal
structure is inadequate, with all these cases that we've had. It
seems the more cases we have, the worse the industry—the more
success we have, the more failure we see in the way of bank-
ruptcies, and there’s something fundamentally wrong with the
laws, the way they’re implemented—either what they are on the
books or the way they’re implemented or a combination that is not
successful. Why is this the case? I mean, the time frames are one
thing, but I think there may be other factors involved. We ought
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to know why our current legal structure is imperfect and then what
your recommendations are to how to make it perfect, how to make
it really effective.

Mr. UsHER. We will be glad to submit that.

Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Just one very short question. I haven’t
had a list of questions, but I'm curious, the hot button question of
today, should the President be given fast track authority?

Mr. GERARD. Absolutely not.

[Laughter.]

Chairman D’AMATO. A two-word answer.

Mr. GERARD. And I speak for Tom on that, too.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Okay.

[Laughter.]

Mr. USHER. Leo speaks for himself on that.

Co-Chairman BECKER. I predicted the answer and your response,
also. I want to express my appreciation

Commissioner LEWIS. George, what is Mr. Usher’s response?

Co-Chairman BECKER. Pardon?

Commissioner LEWIS. I didn’t hear Mr. Usher’s response.

Mr. UsHER. I just rebutted what Leo said, that he speaks for me.

Commissioner LEWIS. So you think he should be given fast track
authority?

Mr. UsHER. Yeah. I think this is a point we would disagree, but
I would say yes.

Commissioner LEWIS. With or without labor rights or union
rights?

Mr. USHER. I mean, I think these are important considerations,
but I think it does hamper us. We have been supportive of many
of the trade initiatives of the past. We are not anti-trade people.
We just sort of feel that there have to be rules of any type of game,
including in trade, and we want those rules enforced.

Mr. GERARD. We are for rules in trade, we just don’t want them
done too fast.

Co-Chairman BECKER. I just wanted to make sure everybody un-
derstood that they’re not together on everything.

[Laughter.]

I want to thank both of you for your testimony. It’'s been very
good and I think you would agree with that, based on the questions
that came forward.

Mr. UsHER. Thank you.

Mr. GERARD. Thank you.

Co-Chairman BECKER. Thank you very much.

Chairman D’AMATO. We'll go ahead and get started. We've got a
pretty full morning ahead of us before we break for lunch. We've
got an interesting and important panel here.

Representing USTR is the General Counsel, Peter Davidson. We
welcome him. We have also the Acting Commissioner of the United
States Customs Service, Mr. Charles Winwood, and his Assistant
Commissioner, Donald Shruhan. Then we have a commentator who
has just returned from a long service in Shanghai with an Amer-
ican law firm, who has just written a very interesting book pub-
lished—the ink is still wet on the book, I believe, isn’t it, Gordon?

Mr. CHANG. It is.
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Chairman D’AMATO. I think what we’d like to do is follow the
same process that we have in the past. If the witnesses will try and
summarize their comments in about ten minutes, we’ll have all of
you give your testimony and then we’ll open it up to questions from
the panel and the panelists. Then we will try to stick to the seven-
minute rule in asking your questions in the first round so everyone
gets an opportunity to question the witnesses.

With China’s WTO accession expected in the near term, the U.S.
focus will be on whether accession will adequately open up the Chi-
nese market to U.S. goods and services and also what the impact
of China’s entry into the WTO will have on its own political and
economic system, the big questions that we’re all wrestling with.

Participants on this panel will discuss the status and specifics of
China’s WTO accession agreement, in addition, China’s record of
compliance, not only projected with that agreement but with pre-
vious agreements that we have signed with them in the customs
area and other areas, and the implications for WTO accession on
both the United States and China.

We'll start off with Peter Davidson, who is the current General
Counsel for the USTR. We welcome you to the Commission. Thank
you for coming.

PANEL II: ADMINISTRATION PERSPECTIVES/BILATERAL TRADE AND
WTO ISSUES: ADEQUACY OF ENFORCMENT LAWS ON IMPORTED
GOODS

STATEMENT OF PETER DAVIDSON, GENERAL COUNSEL, UNITED
STATES TRADE REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. DaviDSON. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I appre-
ciate the opportunity to be here, distinguished Commissioners, as
well. I know some of you from past lives and I appreciate the op-
portunity to be with such a distinguished panel.

I have to give a little caveat at the outset. As I mentioned to
Commissioner D’Amato, I am pinch-hitting for Ambassador-des-
ignate Jon Huntsman, who will hopefully be confirmed by the Sen-
ate shortly and is by far more expert than I am on these issues,
but I'll give it my best shot today.

I brought with me Terry McCartin, who is our Director of Moni-
toring and Enforcement in the China office at USTR and will speak
a little bit in my testimony and afterward about efforts we have
made to beef up our staffing in this area, as well, and I'll try to
keep my remarks within the ten-minute time period.

Chairman D’AMATO. If you go over a little bit, we do have two
hours, so you can go over a little bit, if you need to.

Mr. DaviDsSON. Okay. Thank you. I’d like to discuss today the ad-
ministration’s perspective on the U.S. trade relationship with the
People’s Republic of China and particularly its imminent accession
to the WTO.

First of all, market access. China’s accession to the WTO will be
a major and direct step forward in ensuring significantly greater
market access for U.S. businesses and farmers to China’s large and
expanding market. The groundwork for this achievement was laid
by the United States in November of 1999 when the United States
concluded a bilateral agreement with China on the terms of its ac-
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cession to the WTO, capping, as you know, nearly 14 years of in-
tense and often difficult negotiations.

The U.S.-China bilateral agreement provided us with a set of
comprehensive, verifiable, one-way trade concessions that substan-
tially opened China’s market across the spectrum to U.S. goods,
services, agriculture. By now, this Commission is familiar with the
terms of our bilateral agreement and there’s no need to go through
them in detail today.

The major market access concessions are as follows. China will
reduce its average tariff levels on goods of interest to the United
States from 24 to seven percent. China will phase out all tariffs on
information technology projects by the year 2005. China will broad-
ly open up its services sector, such as insurance, banking, securi-
ties, telecommunications, express mail, legal accounting, and com-
puter-related services. And finally, China will permit U.S. compa-
nieskto operate wholesale, resale, and franchise distribution net-
works.

The 1999 U.S.-China bilateral agreement, critical though it was,
did not mark the end of China’s accession process. Still to be com-
pleted was the negotiation of the multilateral documents essential
to the accession package, China’s protocol of accession, and the re-
port of the Working Party on China. These two documents describe
how WTO rules will apply to China and how China intends to im-
plement the commitments it is undertaking in the areas of goods,
services, and intellectual property rights. It is principally the final-
ization of these documents that has occupied us since 1999.

As it now stands, we have been able to achieve international con-
sensus on Working Party Report provisions on numerous additional
issues critical to ensuring market access with China, including
technical barriers to trade, administration of tariff-rate quotas, in-
tellectual property rights, and agricultural and industrial subsidies.
All of these market access concessions supplement more broad-
based reforms to which China has also committed in an effort to
address practices that have not only made it difficult for U.S. com-
panies to do business in China, but have also hindered the develop-
ment of China’s own economy.

For example, China has agreed to commitments to greater trans-
parency in the operation of its trade regime. Laws, regulations, and
other measures will be published before they’re enforced and inter-
ested parties will have an opportunity to comment on these provi-
sions before they are implemented. Administrative actions relating
to trade matters will be subject to judicial review, and China has
agreed that the practices of all levels of government will comply
with WTO commitments.

I will speak a bit about protection against Chinese imports. Let
me turn to the area of trade remedies and specifically provisions
in China’s WTO accession package that strengthen the ability of
the United States to safeguard itself against unfairly traded im-
ports from China once China accedes.

Here, as a part of our 1999 bilateral agreement, we were able to
negotiate three separate mechanisms. Last month in Geneva, all
aspects of these mechanisms were multilateralized and have now
been made a part of China’s accession package. Perhaps the most
important of these mechanisms involves the antidumping laws.
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These are the laws that we use most frequently in the United
States, as you know, against low-price injurious imports.

Historically in antidumping cases involving Chinese products, we
have used a special methodology known as the non-market econ-
omy, or NME, methodology to make the key measurement when
calculating the amount of dumping that is taking place. Although
this methodology has long been a part of U.S. law, it is not ex-
pressly incorporated in WTO rules. We achieved a significant con-
cession when we were able to gain China’s agreement that we and
other WTO members will be able to continue to use this method-
ology for the next 15 years after China’s accession to the WTO.

Another significant concession that we obtained is the creation of
a special safeguard mechanism protecting U.S. industry and work-
ers against import surges from China. This mechanism, known as
the product specific safeguard, will be available to the U.S. and
other WTO members for 12 years after China’s accession. It is dis-
tinctive because it goes beyond the normal safeguard measures au-
thorized by WTO rules in two important ways.

First, it employs a more lenient injury standard, known as a
market disruption, rather than the normal serious injury standard.
Secondly, it is China-specific, meaning it allows us to apply safe-
guard measures that are targeted solely at Chinese products rather
than at imports from all countries.

The third mechanism is a safeguard that applies to textile prod-
ucts. This mechanism will be available to the United States and
other WTO members for approximately seven years after China’s
accession, or until the year 2008. Like the new product specific
safeguard, this textile safeguard employs a market disruption in-
jury standard and is China-specific.

Before I move on, let me make one more point that underscores
the level of protection that we have put in place for U.S. industry
and workers. The terms of China accession to the WTO are di-
rected at the opening of China’s market to U.S. industry, not the
opening of the U.S. market. China already has wide access to the
U.S. market and has had it for years, so accession will not increase
the penetration of Chinese products in the U.S. market. Neverthe-
less, we have still negotiated the mechanisms described above in
order to ensure protection against any injury that U.S. industry
and workers might suffer following China’s accession to the WTO
and the Administration is committed to invoking and applying
those mechanisms whenever necessary.

I want to step back for just a moment and talk a little bit about
the bigger picture, since I've gone through some of the details of
our arrangements. First of all, the agreement on China’s accession,
as I've mentioned, will reduce China’s trade barriers across a range
of services and goods, eliminate or significantly reduce restrictions
on freedom to import and distribute goods within China, and rec-
‘8{? industrial policies intended to draw jobs and technology to

ina.

Second, China’s commitments are effective immediately upon ac-
cession. China will be required to take concrete steps to open its
market from day one in virtually every sector. The phase-in of fur-
ther concessions will be limited to five years in almost all cases,
and in many cases to three years.
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Third, the agreement is enforceable. China’s commitments are
specific, with timetables and dates for staged and full implementa-
tion. We will enforce them through our trade laws, WTO dispute
settlement processes as necessary, and other mechanisms, includ-
ing an annual multilateral review of China’s implementation and
compliance for eight years, with an additional review in the tenth
year. We intend to set up a network to help us identify and act
upon problems as early as possible, drawing on the assets of our
embassy and consulates in China, the Departments of Commerce
and Agriculture, American Chambers of Commerce in China and
the region, and at USTR, we have added additional personnel who
will focus on monitoring and implementation efforts.

Fourth, as I have already touched upon, the agreement helps en-
sure through a variety of mechanisms that trade with China does
not injure U.S. workers and industry.

Fifth, the increased transparency and accountability that WTO
membership and implementation of WTO rules compel can only
have a positive effect in other areas. The essence of the WTO is it
is a rules-based system that requires its members to play by the
rules and operate with openness and transparency, both when
making their laws and regulations and when enforcing them. WTO
provisions and philosophy also stress the central role of markets
and private enterprise. The reforms China is undertaking to enter
the WTO and comply with its new WTO commitments will provide
the basis for further liberalization in China, including an increased
commitment to the rule of law.

Let me turn now to what remains to be done before China can
formally accede to the WTO. At this point, China has completed
the negotiation of all of its bilateral agreements, with the principal
exception of Mexico, which is currently engaged in intensive bilat-
eral negotiations with China. Along with our other trading part-
ners, we are in the process of verifying and rectifying each of the
commitments China has made in its various bilateral agreements
to ensure that the most liberalizing one is reflected in the final ac-
cession documents.

On the multilateral side, last month, we were able to produce a
completed protocol of accession and a working party report with
only one or two unresolved issues. In mid-September, what we
hope will be the final working party session will convene to ap-
prove the final text of these documents. If we are successful, this
package will then be sent to the capitals for review. The full acces-
sion package will then be reviewed by Ambassador Zoellick and
concerned agencies of the U.S. Government.

After that review, the President will decide whether he can cer-
tify to Congress, as required in the PNTR legislation, that the final
package is at least equivalent to the bilateral agreement negotiated
in 1999. We believe that the final package will meet that standard.

If the President is able to provide such a certification and other
countries provide their approvals, WT'O members at a meeting of
the General Council, possibly at a WTO ministerial meeting in
mid-November, would then approve the terms of China’s accession
to the WTO. China will then need to complete its domestic ap-
proval processes and formally accept WT'O membership. China will
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become a WTO member 30 days after filing its formal acceptance
with the WTO.

One final point is we fully expect the WTO to also approve Tai-
wan’s accession in the same time frame as China’s accession. As a
major player in international trade in a new and thriving democ-
racy, Taiwan deserves membership and a larger role in the inter-
national community. We have discussed our expectations on Tai-
wan’s accession thoroughly with all concerned parties and we are
confident that there is a consensus on this point.

Let me conclude by saying that China’s accession to the WTO
will be a benefit to China, but it’s not a favor to China. Indeed, it
contains the most rigorous and broad-ranging commitments ever
required of a new member of the GATT or WTO. Major bene-
ficiaries will be American businesses and farmers and workers. Ac-
cession will significantly open the world’s most populous country,
and arguably the fastest-growing economy in the world, to our ex-
porters and service suppliers without changing China’s access to
our market.

I look forward to your questions and that concludes my com-
ments, Mr. Chairman.

[The statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF PETER DAVIDSON

I am pleased to appear before the U.S.-China Security Review Commission today
to discuss the Administration’s perspectives on the United States’ trade relationship
with the People’s Republic of China and, particularly, its imminent accession to the
WTO.

Market Access

China’s accession to WTO will be a major and direct step forward in ensuring sig-
nificantly greater market access for U.S. businesses and farmers to China’s large
and expanding market. The groundwork for this achievement was laid by the
United States in November of 1999, when the United States concluded a bilateral
agreement with China on the terms of China’s accession to the WTO, capping nearly
fourteen years of intense, often difficult negotiations.

The U.S.-China bilateral agreement provided us with a set of comprehensive,
verifiable, one-way trade concessions that substantially open China’s market across
the spectrum to U.S. goods, services and agriculture. By now, this Commission is
familiar with the terms of our bilateral agreement, and there is no need to review
them all in detail today. The major market access concessions under the agreement
are as follows:

—China will reduce average tariff levels on goods of interest to the United States

from 24% to 7%;
—China will phase-out all tariffs on Information Technology Products by 2005;
—China will broadly open up its services sectors, such as insurance, banking, se-
curities, telecommunications, express mail, legal, accounting and computer-re-
lated services; and

—China will permit U.S. companies to operate wholesale, retail, and franchised

distribution networks.

The 1999 U.S.-China bilateral agreement, critical though it was, did not mark the
end of China’s WTO accession process. Still to be completed was the negotiation of
the multilateral documents essential to the accession package—China’s Protocol of
Accession and the Report of the Working Party on China. These two documents de-
scribe how WTO rules will apply to China and how China intends to implement the
commitments it is undertaking in the areas of goods, services and intellectual prop-
erty rights. It is principally the finalization of these documents that has occupied
us since 1999.

As it now stands, we have been able to achieve international consensus on Work-
ing Party Report provisions on numerous additional issues crucial to ensuring mar-
ket access with China—including, inter alia, technical barriers to trade (or stand-
ards), administration of tariff-rate quotas, intellectual property rights and agricul-
tural and industrial subsidies.
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All of these market access concessions supplement more broad-based reforms to
which China has also committed, in an effort to address practices that have not only
made it difficult for U.S. companies to do business in China but have also hindered
the development of China’s own economy. For example, China has agreed to com-
mitments to greater transparency in the operation of its trade regime. Laws, regula-
tions and other measures will be published before they are enforced and interested
parties will have an opportunity to comment on these provisions before they are im-
plemented. Administrative actions relating to trade matters will be subject to judi-
cial review, and China has agreed that the practices of all levels of government will
comply with WTO requirements.

Protection Against Chinese Imports

Now, let me turn to the area of trade remedies and, specifically, the provisions
in China’s WTO accession package that strengthen the ability of the United States
to safeguard itself against unfairly traded imports from China once China becomes
a Member of the WTO. Here, as part of our 1999 bilateral agreement with China,
we were able to negotiate three separate mechanisms. Last month in Geneva, all
aspects of these mechanisms were multilateralized and have now been made part
of China’s accession package.

Perhaps the most important of these mechanisms involves the antidumping laws.
These are the laws that we use the most frequently to protect U.S. industry and
workers against low-priced, injurious imports from China. Historically, in anti-
dumping cases involving Chinese products, we have used a special methodology—
known as the “non-market economy,” or NME, methodology—to make the key meas-
urement when calculating the amount of dumping that is taking place. Although
this methodology has long been a part of U.S. law, it is not expressly incorporated
in the WTO rules. We achieved a significant concession when we were able to gain
China’s agreement that we (and other WT'O Members) could continue to use this
methodology for 15 years after China’s accession to the WTO.

Another significant concession that we obtained is the creation of a special safe-
guard mechanism protecting U.S. industry and workers against import surges from
China. This mechanism, known as the “product-specific” safeguard, will be available
to the United States (and other WTO Members) for 12 years after China’s accession.
It is distinctive because it goes beyond the normal safeguard mechanism authorized
by WTO rules in two important ways. First, it employs a relatively lenient injury
standard known as “market disruption” (rather than the normal standard of “seri-
ous injury”). Second, it is China-specific, meaning that it allows us to apply safe-
guard measures that are targeted solely at Chinese products (rather than at imports
from all countries).

The third mechanism is a safeguard that applies to textile products. This mecha-
nism will be available to the United States and other WTO Members for approxi-
mately 7 years after China’s accession, or until the end of 2008. Like the new prod-
uct-specific safeguard, this textile safeguard employs a market disruption injury
standard, and it is China-specific.

Before I move on, let me make one more point that underscores the level of pro-
tection that we have put in place for U.S. industry and workers. The terms of Chi-
na’s accession to the WTO are directed at the opening of China’s market to U.S.
industry, not the opening of the U.S. market. China already has wide access to the
U.S. market, and it has had it for years. So, accession will not increase the penetra-
tion of Chinese products in the U.S. market. Nevertheless, we have still negotiated
the mechanisms described above in order to ensure protection against any injury
that U.S. industry and workers might suffer following China’s accession to the
WTO, and the Administration is committed to invoking and applying those mecha-
nisms whenever necessary.

The Bigger Picture

I now want to step back for a minute and let you see the bigger picture:

—First, the agreement on China’s accession, as I have mentioned, will reduce Chi-
na’s trade barriers across a broad range of goods and services, eliminate or sig-
nificantly reduce restrictions on freedom to import and distribute goods within
8£ina, and rectify industrial policies intended to draw jobs and technology to

ina.

—Second, China’s commitments are effective immediately upon accession. China
will be required to take concrete steps to open its market from day one in vir-
tually every sector. The phase-in of further concessions will be limited to five
years in almost all cases, and in many cases to three years.

—Third, the agreement is enforceable. China’s commitments are specific, with
timetables and dates for staged and full implementation. We will enforce them
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through our trade laws, WTO dispute settlement processes, as necessary, and
other mechanisms including an annual multilateral review of China’s imple-
mentation and compliance for eight years, with an additional review in the
tenth year. We intend to set up a network to help us identify and act upon prob-
lems as early as possible, drawing on the assets of our Embassy and Consulates
in China, the Departments of Commerce and Agriculture, and the American
Chambers of Commerce in China and the region. At USTR, we have also added
personnel who will focus on monitoring and implementation efforts.

—Fourth, as I have already discussed, the agreement helps ensure, through a va-
riety of mechanisms, that trade with China does not injure U.S. industry and
workers.

—Fifth, the increased transparency and accountability that WTO Membership
and implementation of WTO rules compel can only have a positive effect in
other areas. The essence of the WTO is that it is a rules-based system that re-
quires its members in turn to play by the rules and to operate with openness
and transparency, both when making their laws and regulations and when en-
forcing them. WTO provisions and philosophy also stress the central role of
markets and private enterprise. The reforms China is undertaking to enter the
WTO and comply with its new WTO commitments will provide the basis for fur-
ther liberalization in China, including an increased commitment to the rule of
law.

Remaining Steps

Now, let me turn to what remains to be done before China can formally accede
to the WTO.

At this point, China has completed the negotiation of all of its bilateral agree-
ments, with the principal exception of Mexico, which is currently engaged in inten-
sive bilateral negotiations with China. Along with our other trading partners, we
are in the process of verifying and rectifying each of the commitments China has
made in its various bilateral agreements to ensure the most liberalizing one is re-
flected in the final accession documents.

On the multilateral side, last month we were able to produce a completed Protocol
of Accession and a Working Party Report with only one or two unresolved issues.

In mid-September, what we hope will be the final Working Party session will con-
vene to approve final texts of these documents. If we are successful, this package
will then be sent to capitals for review.

The full accession package will be reviewed by Ambassador Zoellick and other
concerned agencies of the U.S. Government. After that review, the President will de-
cide whether he can certify to the Congress, as required in the PNTR legislation,
that the final package is at least equivalent to the bilateral agreement negotiated
in 1999. We believe that the final package will meet that standard. If the President
is able to provide such a certification and other countries provide their approvals,
WTO members, at a meeting of the General Council, possibly at the WTO Ministe-
rial meeting in Doha in mid-November, would then approve the terms of China’s
accession to the WTO.

China will then need to complete its domestic approval process and formally ac-
cept WTO membership. China will become a WTO member thirty days after filing
its formal acceptance with the WTO.

One final point is that we fully expect the WTO to approve Taiwan’s accession
in the same time frame as China’s accession. As a major player in international
trade and a new and thriving democracy, Taiwan deserves membership and a larger
role in the international community. We have discussed our expectations on Tai-
wan’s accession thoroughly with all concerned parties, and we are confident that
there is a consensus on this point.

Conclusion

Let me conclude by saying that China’s accession to WTO will be a benefit to
China, of course. But, it is not a favor to China. Indeed, it contains the most rig-
orous and broad-ranging commitments ever required of a new member to the GATT
or WTO. Major beneficiaries will be American businesses and farmers and their
workers. Accession will significantly open the world’s most populous country, and
arguably the fastest-growing economy in the world, to our exporters and service sup-
pliers, without changing China’s access to our own market.

I look forward to your questions.

Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much, Mr. Davidson.
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We would like to move right on to the Customs Service, Acting
Commissioner Charles Winwood. We appreciate your coming.
Thank you very much for testifying before the Commission.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES W. WINWOOD, ACTING COMMISSIONER, U.S.
CUSTOMS SERVICE, DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

ACCOMPANIED BY:
DONALD SHRUHAN, DEPUTY ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER, INTER-
NATIONAL AFFAIRS, U.S. CUSTOMS SERVICE, DEPARTMENT OF
THE TREASURY
LESLEY ANNE KESSLER, OFFICE OF THE CHIEF COUNSEL, U.S.
CUSTOMS SERVICE, DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY

Mr. WiNnwooD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the
Commission. Thank you for providing an invitation to provide a
statement this morning. I regret to tell you, as we already worked
out previously before my appearance here this morning, that I’ll
have to leave immediately after my statement for another commit-
ment, but Mr. Don Shruhan, sitting to my left, will stay, along with
a member of our staff sitting directly behind him, Lesley Anne
Kessler, to respond to any questions that might arise at the conclu-
sion of your panel this morning.

As part of its worldwide network of representative offices, U.S.
Customs maintains an active presence in Beijing, China. As in all
our foreign posts, Customs personnel in China serve as part of
America’s diplomatic team. Our staff coordinates its work closely
with the State Department and other U.S. officials in country. We
serve at the invitation of the Chinese government and work in co-
operation with China’s trade and law enforcement personnel.

Our representatives in China cover a range of enforcement issues
that include but are not limited to prison and forced child labor in-
vestigations, export controls, intellectual property rights, dumping,
textiles, commercial fraud, and other trans-shipment cases. Staff in
Beijing are assisted in their work by employees based in our Office
of Investigations here in Washington, D.C. We have two Customs
special agents and one intelligence research specialist that support
our global forced labor program, to include China, from head-
quarters.

Now, turning to some matters of specific interest to this Commis-
sion, as you are aware, the U.S. Customs Service is the lead law
enforcement agency for investigations involving an importation of
goods made with forced prison labor into the United States. Our
primary authority derives from Section 1307 of Title XIX of the
United States Code, which prohibits the importation of goods made
wholly or in part with convict, forced, or indentured labor under
penal sanctions. In addition, we enforce Section 1761 of Title XVIII,
United States Code, the primary criminal statute prohibiting the
importation of goods made with convict labor.

The investigations of allegations of prison labor is a high priority
for the Customs Service, but at the same time, these case are often
difficult to substantiate and diplomatically sensitive. This is true
not only for China, but for many countries in which Customs inves-
tigates charges of this nature.

We continue to work with the Chinese government to gain access
to prison sites where the manufacture of goods with convict labor
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has been alleged. We have a memorandum of understanding and
a statement of cooperation in place that governs this process.
Under that agreement, Customs must file site visit requests with
China’s Ministry of Justice. At the current time, we have a number
of these requests pending.

As long as the situation remains as it is, Customs has adequate
resources in place in China to manage our workload there. How-
ever, should the number and/or geographic span of cases increase,
we would likely be in a position to seek additional funding to meet
our mission needs. This has been the case, for example, in areas
of child labor investigations.

Customs has received resources from Congress to post additional
special agents at selected foreign posts around the world as our ac-
tivities in this field have expanded. To date, we have substantiated
three allegations of forced prison labor in China.

Now, the first involved E.W. Bliss Company of Hastings, Michi-
gan, which in 1992 plead guilty to charges of knowingly importing
machine presses made with prison labor. The company forfeited the
merchandise and paid a substantial fine.

In 1994, the Court of International Trade ruled in favor of the
United States Government in a suit brought by China Diesel Im-
ports. That company, which was importing diesel engines produced
by the Yunnan Machinery Company of China, was protesting the
exclusion of its products by U.S. Customs, which had found evi-
dence of prison labor in their manufacture in violation of Section
1307.

And this past year, Customs investigated Office Mate Inter-
national Corporation of Edison, New Jersey, and a sister company,
Allied International Manufacturing Corporation, or AIMCO, located
in Beijing, China. The individual who owned both companies was
convicted of transporting into the United States over 100 million
paper binder clips that had been assembled with prison labor in
China.

The AIMCO case highlighted another vital aspect of our prison
labor investigations, one that is equally or more important to our
success than resource issues. It is our need for reliable investiga-
tive leads, including those provided from outside sources. In this
particular case, Customs was approached by a private business-
man, the owner of a U.S. manufacturer of binder clips, about the
use of prison labor by a competitor. He provided video footage shot
in China to support his claim. That footage enabled Customs to
launch its investigation, which was conducted mainly by our New-
ark, New Jersey, office. Without this initial lead, the case might
never have been opened.

For this very reason, Customs maintains a strong relationship on
forced prison and child labor issues with a broad array of inter-
national partners, from private companies operating overseas to
nongovernmental organizations. We are ready to act, but we cannot
do it alone. We need solid, credible information to open and ad-
vance our investigations.

Again, the Customs Service is committed to enforcing the laws
that prohibit the importation of prison labor goods into the United
States. In China and elsewhere, we will continue to pursue these
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investigations vigorously, along with a host of other enforcement
priorities managed by our enforcement teams.

I wanted to thank you once again for the opportunity to appear
today, and as I said, I regret that I have to leave, but Mr. Shruhan,
at the appropriate time, along with Lesley, will be able to answer
any questions that might arise in this Commission panel this
morning. Thank you very much.

[The statement follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF CHARLES W. WINWOOD

Commissioner Becker, Chairman D’Amato, members of the Commission, thank
you for your invitation to provide a statement on the work of the U.S. Customs
Service in China.

As part of its worldwide network of representative offices, U.S. Customs main-
tains an active presence in Beijing, China. As in all our foreign posts, Customs per-
sonnel in China serve as part of America’s diplomatic team. Our staff coordinates
its work closely with the State Department and other U.S. officials in country. We
serve at the invitation of the Chinese government, and work in cooperation with
China’s trade and law enforcement personnel.

Our representatives in China cover a range of enforcement issues that include,
but are not limited to: prison and forced child labor investigations; export controls;
intellectual property rights; dumping; textiles; commercial fraud; and other trans-
shipment cases.

Staff in Beijing are assisted in their work by employees based in our Office of In-
vestigations here in Washington. Two Customs special agents and one intelligence
research specialist support our global forced labor program, to include China, from
Headquarters.

Turning to matters of specific interest to this Commission, as you are aware, the
U.S. Customs Service is the lead law enforcement agency for investigations involv-
ing the importation of goods made with forced prison labor into the United States.
Our primary authority derives from Section 1307 of Title 19, United States Code,
which prohibits the importation of goods made wholly or in part with convict, forced,
or indentured labor under penal sanctions. In addition, we enforce Section 1761 of
Title 18, United States Code, the primary criminal statute prohibiting the importa-
tion of goods made with convict labor.

The investigation of allegations of prison labor is a high priority for the Customs
Service. At the same time, these cases are often difficult to substantiate, and dip-
lomatically sensitive. This is true not only for China, but for many countries in
which Customs investigates charges of this nature.

We continue to work with the Chinese government to gain access to prison sites
where the manufacture of goods with convict labor has been alleged. We have a
Memorandum of Understanding and Statement of Cooperation in place that governs
this process. Under that agreement, Customs must file site visit requests with Chi-
na’deinistry of Justice. At the current time, we have a number of these requests
pending.

As long as this situation remains, Customs has adequate resources in place in
China to manage our workload there. However, should the number and/or geo-
graphic span of cases increase, we would likely be in a position to seek additional
funding to meet our mission needs.

This has been the case, for example, in the area of child labor investigations. Cus-
toms has received resources from the Congress to post additional special agents at
select foreign posts around the world as our activities in this field have expanded.

To date, we have substantiated three allegations of forced prison labor in China.
The first involved the E.W. Bliss Company of Hastings, Michigan, which in 1992
pled guilty to charges of knowingly importing machine presses made with prison
labor. The company forfeited the merchandise and paid a $75,000 fine.

In November 1994, the Court of International Trade ruled in favor of the U.S.
government in a suit brought by China Diesel Imports. That company, which im-
ported diesel engines produced by the Yunnan Machinery Company of China, was
protesting the exclusion of its products by U.S. Customs, which had found evidence
of prison labor in their manufacture, in violation of section 1307.

This past year, Customs investigated Officemate International Corporation of Edi-
son, New Jersey, and a sister company, Allied International Manufacturing Corpora-
tion, or “AIMCO,” located in Nanjing, China. The individual who owned both compa-
nies and several senior managers were convicted of transporting over a hundred
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énillion paper binder clips assembled with prison labor in China into the United
tates.

The AIMCO case highlighted another vital aspect of our prison labor investiga-
tions, one that is equally or more important to our success than resource issues.
That is our need for reliable investigative leads, including those provided by outside
sources.

In this particular case, Customs was approached by a private businessman, the
owner of a U.S. manufacturer of binder clips, about the use of prison labor by a com-
petitor. He provided video footage, shot in China, to support his claim. That footage
enabled Customs to launch its investigation, which was conducted mainly by our
Newark, New Jersey office. Without this initial lead, the case might never have
been opened.

For this very reason, Customs maintains a strong relationship on forced prison
and child labor issues with a broad array of international partners, from private
companies operating overseas to non-governmental organizations. We are ready to
act but we cannot do it alone. We need solid, credible information to open and ad-
vance our investigations.

Again, the Customs Service is committed to enforcing the laws that prohibit the
importation of prison labor goods into the United States. In China, and elsewhere,
we will continue to pursue these investigations vigorously, along with the host of
other enforcement priorities managed by our foreign teams.

I want to thank the Commission once again for this opportunity to appear today.
I regret that I must depart immediately, but Don Shruhan and Lesley Anne Kessler
of my staff will remain to answer any questions you might have.

Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you very much, Mr. Commissioner.
We appreciate your coming and that strong statement. We will be
glad to question Mr. Shruhan on that, and we look forward to a
long relationship with you and will give you any assistance we can
in developing the tools that you need to do the enforcement that
is so necessary under these agreements.

Mr. WiNwoOD. I would appreciate it. Thank you.

Chairman D’AMATO. Thank you. I'd like to move on now to Mr.
Gordon Chang, who is a long-term partner with a major American
firm in Shanghai. He has done some writing in the past on the Chi-
nese economic situation and has just released a new book based on
his experiences in China. We'll let you tell us about that, Mr.
Chang. Thank you.

STATEMENT OF GORDON G. CHANG, AUTHOR AND ATTORNEY

Mr. CHANG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As you point out, the ink
on my book is barely dry. It was released by Random House just
three days ago.

I've lived and worked in mainland China and Hong Kong for
most of the last two decades. My practice primarily involved cor-
porate finance transactions, both debt and equity, but I also par-
ticipated in litigation in the Chinese courts and other dispute reso-
lution forums in China, and the book is based upon my experiences
in China over the past 20 years.

I've been asked to summarize The Coming Collapse and I can do
that in one sentence. The Communist Party of China will fall from
power within the next five years, perhaps a decade, but probably
the next five years.

For many people, this is a startling conclusion, because China
presents the image of success. But I've come to this conclusion for
a number of reasons, and the most important one is China’s up-
coming accession to the WTO, because China is not ready.

As the General Counsel Davidson mentioned, accession to the
WTO will be significant. There will be many changes. Of course,
the ones we will most see relate to the drop in tariffs. But also,
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China will eliminate many of the internal barriers to trade. It will
ascribe to general WTO rules of fairness and non-discrimination.
And perhaps most important, China will become a part of the dis-
pute resolution mechanism which is based and administered out-
side China.

In the WTO era, the state-owned enterprises, which are the pride
of Chinese socialism, will just not be prepared for the enhanced
competition that accession will bring. Beijing has essentially de-
ferred structural reform of the SOEs. There has been some window
dressing. The SOEs look more profitable, but they are not more
competitive. Some analysts say that in the years following acces-
sion, only a few of the approximately 1,100 Chinese companies that
are listed on Chinese stock exchanges will survive. I don’t know if
the shake-out will be that horrendous, but certainly, there will be
a change.

With state-owned banks, the story is similar. They have gone
through two major recapitalizations, one in 1998 and the other in
1999 and 2000. Yet even after the recapitalizations, they still are
insolvent and they’re not prepared for accession.

Many people look at WTO accession and say, well, it really won’t
be that serious because of three reasons. First of all, China will
cheat. Second of all, foreign investment will swell. Third of all,
gross domestic product, GDP, will increase.

Will China cheat? Senior Chinese leaders tell us all the time that
they won’t, and I, for one, take them for their word. But just be-
cause I don’t think that the Chinese leaders will cheat, that’s not
the end of the story, because there is a group in China, and it’s a
very large group, that will cheat. Every province, every city, every
municipality will do everything it can to protect local industry in
the WTO era, and much has been made of this.

I tend to think, though, multinationals, which have fought so
hard for China’s accession to the WTO, are not going to take this
lying down, and I think the one thing that’s important about WTO
is that you don’t have to listen to the bureaucrats anymore in the
WTO era, and because of that, I think that eventually multi-
nationals will prevail, if not in China, then certainly in WTO dis-
pute resolution mechanisms, however flawed they may be.

So, in essence, I think that China will cheat, but I don’t think
it will be as major an issue as most people expect.

In terms of foreign investment, there will be some increase in
foreign investment after accession, but I don’t think the boom will
be as big as people predict and won’t last as long as they expect,
because in China today, there’s overcapacity in every industry seg-
ment except for telecommunications. Overcapacity in China is mir-
rored by overcapacity in the world today.

If you're a manager of the China operations of a multinational,
one thing that you will want to do, of course, is have more foreign
investment to take advantage of the emerging national market-
place. But if you’re an executive in London, Paris, or New York, the
compelling solution for you will be to use idle capacity outside
China and export to China. That’s the compelling solution and
that’s what WTO permits.

When the waves of imports flood China, I think that gross do-
mestic product will not increase. I think it will decrease. It may de-
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crease by one percentage point or two percentage points, and that
may not sound like a lot, but China is already on the precipice and
I think that just a small decrease can have a disproportionate im-
pact on the stability of the government.

Today, the number of unemployed and underemployed workers
in China is greater than the combined population of France, the
United Kingdom, and Germany, and certainly WTO accession will
aggravate the issue of unemployment.

To keep the economy going, the Chinese government is now en-
gaged in a program of massive fiscal stimulus. It’s been doing this
for the last three years and it’'s been running budget deficits.
Today, China looks financially solvent. For instance, if you look at
the measure of debt to GDP, it’s only 22.9 percent, and that’s with-
in the 60 percent safety mark that’s recognized around the world.

But that 22.9 percent figure really does not adequately give you
a good picture of what’s happening in China because that figure
does not include many of the central government’s hidden obliga-
tions. So take, for instance, pension obligations, unfunded pension
obligations. That’s somewhere in the vicinity of $850 billion U.S,,
or by itself, 79.4 percent of GDP. Another set of hidden obligations
are loans to the state-owned enterprises from the state-owned
banks. Those loans are about $860 billion at the end of 2000. If you
look at just those portion of the loans that are non-recoverable,
that the state-owned enterprises will not pay back, that is about
$490 billion.

You start putting these figures together, the $490 billion for the
loans, the $850 billion for the pension obligations, and you come up
with a ratio of about 147 percent, more than twice the internation-
ally recognized safety mark.

So we look at all of this and we have to ask, what will WTO ac-
cession bring, and I think at the end of the day, in the next five
years, when China is trying to spend its way out of problems, it’s
always going to be faced with the problems of worker unrest, so
this next five-year period is cri